CHEMICAL COCKTAILS



The neglected threat of toxic mixtures and how to fix it

A CHEM Trust report March 2022





CONTENTS

1 Executive summary	4
2 Introduction	. 10
2.1 Addressing the risk from chemical mixtures	11
2.2 EU promises more protection against mixture toxicity	. 12
2.3 Policy must include latest science	13
3 Reality check	. 15
3.1 There is a vast number of chemicals in use	. 16
3.2 and we are exposed to many chemicals all the time	. 16
3.3 Some chemicals accumulate in our bodies (the body burden)	. 17
3.4 and some chemicals accumulate in the environment and wildlife (the environmental burden)	20
3.5 The true chemical burden is unknown	22
4 The mixture effect	23
4.1 What do we mean by mixture effect?	24
4.2 Assessing mixture toxicity	25
4.3 "Something from nothing"	26
4.4 Concerns about serious impacts on people and wildlife	30
5 Regulatory challenges	35
5.1 Authorities usually assess a single chemical at a time	.36
5.2and authorities have failed to properly consider mixture effects for years	38
5.3 EU approaches on mixture assessments fall short	40
5.4 Why a mixture assessment factor (MAF) is a solution	42
6 The way forward for EU policy	45
6.1 MAF as a tool in REACH	49
6.2 Bypassing the regulatory silos: consider combination effects in all chemical-related laws	53
6.3 Immediate action: lowering the overall burden of chemical exposure	56
7 Conclusions and recommendations	58
8 Glossary and abbreviations	. 61
9 References	62



GUIDES

Guide 1 - Key definitions	14
Guide 2 – Data gaps are the big limitation in all chemicals assessments	37
Guide 3 - What is the MAF?	43
Guide 4 - FAQ on MAF	47
Guide 5 – Setting the value of the MAF	51
Guide 6 - Improving current approaches to targeted mixture risk assessments	55

CASE STUDIES

Case study #1 - Muddled reproduction	. 28
Case study #2 - Immunotoxic cocktail in marine mammals	31
Case study #3 – Disordered brain development	33

FIGURES

Figure 1 – Chemical pollutants in the home	.18
Figure 2 – Chemical pollutants in the environment	. 21
Figure 3 – Something from nothing – mixture toxicity matters	26
Figure 4 – Decades of inaction on mixtures	39
Figure 5 - What is a Mixture Assessment Factor or MAF?	44

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



The EU should urgently address the risks of exposure to chemical cocktails

We, our children, wildlife and the wider environment are constantly exposed to a complex cocktail of known and suspected harmful chemicals through air, water, food, consumer products and other routes. Decades of research have demonstrated that combined exposure to several chemicals can result in toxic cocktail effects [1,2,3]. Yet most chemical safety regulations ignore this fact and assess chemicals one by one, in isolation [3,4]. We are not properly protected from the impacts on our health of real-life exposure to cocktails of chemicals - neither is the wider environment.

The EU's Chemical Strategy for Sustainability in 2020 recognised that exposure to harmful chemicals is "a threat to human health" and that chemical pollution is "one of the key drivers putting the Earth at risk, impacting and amplifying planetary crises such as climate change, degradation of ecosystems and loss of biodiversity" [5]. As global chemical production grows [6] and the number of chemicals in use around the world multiplies [7] we face enormous challenges to our ability to keep humans and the wider environment safe from the impacts of exposure to cocktails of harmful chemicals.

The EU should act urgently. In CHEM Trust's analysis there are workable and effective policy solutions available to address this complex problem, and the EU should now adopt them.





We are all exposed to mixtures of chemicals

A huge range of currently-used chemicals are detected in humans, wildlife and the environment, including flame retardants, pesticides, water repellents, plasticisers, as well as persistent residues of highly toxic chemicals banned decades ago. Scientists have measured dozens to hundreds of chemical pollutants in our bodies and the environment, e.g. in rivers [8], the dust in our houses [9], our bodies [10] and those of new-born babies [11].

The chemicals that have been detected are the tip of the iceberg as studies of chemicals in humans and environmental samples are always restricted to a limited selection of chemicals. The true chemical burden on our bodies and the environment is therefore unknown, so we have no idea about the full composition of the chemical mixture we are exposed to daily.

Mixtures matter

Many of the chemical substances we are exposed to are individually known to cause harm to human health, wildlife and the environment. But in reality we are not exposed to individual chemicals one at a time, and **there is now clear evidence from decades of research that these chemical exposures can add together, reinforcing their negative impacts** [1,2,3].

Studies show that chemical mixtures present in the environment ('real-life mixtures') can affect a range of biological processes – from the hormonal and neurological systems of children [12] to the immune systems of marine mammals [13]. Crucially, adverse impacts can be observed in cases where the individual chemicals in the mixture are present at or below the level considered safe [3]. The effect(s) of the combined exposure to multiple chemicals from multiple routes can be called the **cocktail effect**, **combination effect**, or **mixture effect**.





Mixture toxicity means that risks are underestimated

EU regulators have spent decades developing assessment processes for individual chemical substances in isolation, and it is accepted that these processes still need improvement. However the reality is that people and wildlife are exposed to multiple chemicals at the same time. A few regulatory processes assess exposure from a combination of chemicals, but this is usually limited to chemicals from the same regulatory silo, for example, pesticides. **This ignores the fact that a person or a fish will be exposed to pesticides and other chemicals**.

The true risks resulting from combined exposure to numerous chemicals, even at low levels, are being vastly underestimated. This means we lack proper protection from our real-life exposure to a large number of different chemicals.



Trying to predict mixture toxicity

Scientists have developed models to estimate the toxicity of mixtures of known composition [14,15]. When all chemicals present are known, as well as their concentration and effects, it is then possible to estimate the toxicity of the mixture and predict the risk in various exposure scenarios.

However, with thousands of chemicals currently in use and many unidentified substances present in the environment and our bodies, predicting the risk from exposure to real-life mixtures presents an extraordinary challenge. In the words of the Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability, it is "not realistic nor economically feasible to specifically assess and regulate an almost infinite number of possible combinations of chemicals" [5].



A pragmatic solution: the Mixture Assessment Factor (MAF)

Because of the difficulty in assessing combination effects in detail, scientists have developed simpler and more general solutions, with the **Mixture Assessment Factor (MAF)** now seen by many scientists and regulators as the only feasible approach for controlling risks from chemical mixtures [16].

Put simply, the 'safe' level of exposure that is determined for an individual chemical is then divided by an extra uncertainty factor, the Mixture Assessment Factor. The MAF acts as a safety net to account for the mixture toxicity that would result from combined exposure to this chemical with other known and unknown chemical substances. In CHEM Trust's view, the MAF is a pragmatic and effective way to manage the reality of mixture exposure.

There is a debate about the best value for the MAF, and **in CHEM Trust's view, the** factor must be high enough to truly increase the level of protection of human health, wildlife and the environment from real-life chemical cocktail exposures.

According to our analysis, considering 1) the vast number of chemicals from various sources found in wildlife and people, 2) their respective contribution to mixture effects, 3) the uncertainties related to the contribution of unknown chemicals, **we consider the MAF should be 100.**

Time for the EU to act

The science is clear - people and the environment are exposed to mixtures of chemicals and the impacts from the combined exposures have been underestimated until now.

EU chemicals regulation must protect human health and the wider environment from the harmful impacts of combined exposures to multiple chemicals, whether they are pesticides, pharmaceuticals or industrial chemicals. This is not the case at the moment and this gap in protection must be closed now to act on the scientific warnings and to deliver the promises of the EU to work towards a "toxic free environment" as laid out in the 2019 European Green Deal [17].

What is at stake is the health of current and future generations. Tackling chemical cocktails is also part of the challenge of addressing the biodiversity crisis.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



CHEM Trust's recommendations for EU chemicals policy on mixtures

Our analysis is that the following policy measures are the minimum the EU should be doing to address these risks:

1. Incorporating mixture assessment into all EU chemical regulations

• A Mixture Assessment Factor (MAF) should be incorporated in all chemical assessments. We assess that a factor of 100 would be optimal to cover the contributions of different chemicals to mixture toxicity, the different sources of exposure, and additional uncertainties related to unknown chemicals.

This MAF should be introduced to the main EU industrial chemical law REACH as soon as possible, as part of implementation of the Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability.

• A legal requirement for mixture assessments should be integrated into other EU chemicals laws during upcoming revisions, including those stipulated by the Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability. It is essential to integrate approaches to address mixture toxicity in all relevant EU laws and in many cases the best option will be a MAF approach. Where targeted mixture assessments are used they must be improved, e.g. by widening the number and scope of substances covered and by introducing more transparency about inherent uncertainties and limitations.

2. Identify and control the use of the most hazardous chemicals, to reduce the quantity of hazardous chemicals we are exposed to

- There should be more resources put into biomonitoring and environmental monitoring programmes in the EU, and harmful chemicals found in humans and the wider environment should be prioritised for regulatory action. It is particularly important to reduce exposure to persistent chemicals and endocrine (hormone) disrupting chemicals.
- Regulatory processes for controlling the use of chemicals must become faster and more protective. One way to do this is through grouping of chemicals for regulatory measures. Chemicals from a group (e.g. bisphenols, phthalates, PFAS, brominated flame retardants) should be regulated together under REACH, and in other chemical-related laws to speed up substitution with safer alternatives.

INTRODUCTION



2.1 Addressing the risk from chemical mixtures

We're used to hearing about a small number of toxic chemicals such as bisphenol A, lead and glyphosate. But we are exposed to hundreds of chemicals every day – whether from air pollution, food additives, personal care products or many other consumer products - and so are wildlife and the wider environment. Dozens to hundreds of chemical pollutants are detected in samples ranging from river water to umbilical cord bloods.

This vast cocktail of chemicals permeates our lives. There is increasingly robust evidence that mixtures – not just the few well-known hazardous chemicals – put our health at risk. As a 2020 progress report from the European Commission explains, "exposure to a mixture can give rise to adverse health and environmental effects, even at levels of exposure which are considered 'safe' for the individual chemicals on their own." [3]







This perturbing fact challenges the assumptions that underlie our chemical regulatory system. Except in a few instances, in the EU, safety assessment for chemical exposure is usually conducted on an individual chemical. European research projects have clearly shown that current EU policies are systematically underestimating the risks from chemical mixtures.

"safety of chemicals in the EU is usually assessed through the evaluation of single substances, or in some cases of mixtures intentionally added for particular uses, without considering the combined exposure to multiple chemicals from different sources and over time." European Commission's Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability, 2020 [5]

2.2 EU promises more protection against mixture toxicity

Attention to mixture toxicity in recent years has led to its explicit recognition in the European Green Deal. As one aspect of the "zero pollution ambition for a toxic-free environment", regulatory systems must address the risks posed by "combination effects of different chemicals" [17]. This goal was fleshed out in the EU Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability, which recognised that "scientific consensus is emerging that the effect of chemical mixtures needs to be taken into account" and that, to accomplish this, "legal requirements need to be consistently in place to ensure that risks from simultaneous exposure to multiple chemicals are effectively and systematically taken into account across chemicals-related policy areas" [5].

The Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability recognises that this is not simply an issue for industrial chemicals, or biocides, or food packaging: **because we are exposed to so many chemicals through so many different routes, addressing the problem of chemical mixtures will require action in many different policy domains.**



2.3 Policy must include latest science

Global chemical production is growing fast: it doubled between 2000 and 2017 and is projected to double again by 2030 [6]. More than 350,000 chemical substances have been registered on the global market [7].

As our chemical universe continues to grow and diversify, it becomes more important that our regulations address not merely the hazards of a handful of bad actors - but the combination effects of the chemical soup in which we live and breathe. There is growing public concern about the effects on health and the environment of our daily use of chemicals.

For over a decade CHEM Trust has been calling for more attention to cumulative risk assessment. (This is the formal name for the process of understanding risks from exposure to multiple chemicals from numerous sources [18]). For example, we have shown that children are at risk from exposure to many chemicals that are capable of affecting brain development [19].

Starting with a reality check of modern-day chemical exposure, this report provides examples that show why the impacts of chemical mixtures are a real concern for human health, wildlife and environmental protection. It then highlights the regulatory challenges of addressing combined exposure to multiple chemicals from various sources. Finally, we make recommendations for changes in EU legislation, including implementation and the necessary magnitude of a Mixture Assessment Factor.

84%

of Europeans are worried about the impact of chemicals on their health

90%

of Europeans are worried about the impact of chemicals on the environment

European Commission's Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability, 2020 [5]



Guide 1 - Key definitions

Chemical mixture or **mixture** or **chemical cocktail:** A combination of chemical substances present in media (e.g. water) and/or a product (e.g. cosmetic) to which people and/or wildlife might be exposed. A chemical mixture of a known composition in a product such as a cosmetic or pharmaceutical is referred to as an **intentional mixture**. A mixture present in environmental media such as water, air, and soil, or present in an organism, is referred to as an **unintentional mixture**. An unintentional mixture is made of synthetic and naturally-occurring chemicals and their degradation products, as well as known and unknown chemicals.

Combined exposure or **cumulative exposure** or **co-exposure:** Exposure to multiple chemical substances from one or multiple sources.

Mixture effect or **cocktail effect** or **combination effect** or **cumulative effect**: Toxic effect on an organism resulting from the combined exposure to multiple chemical substances from multiple sources.

Mixture risk assessment or **cumulative risk assessment**: Estimation of the risk for given exposure scenarios, taking into account the combined exposures to multiple chemicals from multiple sources.

Mixture Assessment Factor or **Mixture Allocation Factor** or **MAF**: Additional uncertainty factor that can be applied in the assessment of single chemicals. This factor acts as a safety net to account for the mixture toxicity that would result from the combined exposure to this chemical and other known and unknown chemical substances.

Concentration addition model or **dose addition model**: Model used to estimate the toxicity of a mixture of known composition, based on the toxicity and concentration of the individual chemical substances.

REALITY CHECK



REALITY CHECK

e

3.1 There is a vast number of chemicals in use ...

350,000+

chemicals and technical mixtures of chemicals have been registered for production and use on the global market

22,000+

chemical substances have been registered for production and use in the EU

In 2020 a study estimated that over 350,000 chemicals and technical mixtures of chemicals have been registered for production and use on the global market. This is three times as many as previously estimated [7].

REACH is the main EU chemical law covering manufacture and use of industrial chemicals. Since 2008 more than 22,500 chemical substances have been registered for production and use in the EU in quantities of >1 tonne per year under REACH. A recent EU restriction on chemicals in tattoo inks covered more than 4,000 chemical substances [20]. Around 8,000 chemical substances for use in different types of food contact articles are listed in the EU and EU member state regulations [21]. And the widely-used class of fluorochemicals known as PFAS – in products from non-stick pans, bicycle grease, water-repellent outerwear to cookie bags – is thought to consist of at least 4,700 separate chemicals [22].

There are numerous other types of chemical substances such as pharmaceuticals, biocides and pesticides which are not covered by REACH. For example, more than 400 active substances are approved for pesticide use in the EU [23].

3.2 ... and we are exposed to many chemicals all the time

We are exposed to this chemical cocktail in countless ways. Whether via ingredients in care products applied to our skin, flame retardants in furniture and electronics that leach out and we inhale, or additives in plastic packaging leaching into our food, we encounter many hundreds or thousands of chemicals every day (Figure 1). We are exposed to many more through the environment: from hundreds of pollutants in the air we breathe, to pharmaceutical residues in rivers and streams used for drinking water, and pesticides residues in our food.



3.3 Some chemicals accumulate in our bodies (the body burden) ...

Traces of this myriad of chemicals are found in our bodies, as shown by human biomonitoring studies such as those conducted and evaluated under the EU research programme HBM4EU¹ [24]. Some substances, referred to as bioaccumulative, can accumulate in fatty tissues and remain in the body for decades. Others are easily excreted but still found in body fluids as a result of constant daily exposure.

In recent years investigations in the general population have highlighted widespread exposure to chemicals which have known or suspected harmful properties. The German environmental survey detected many chemicals that are currently in use, including chemicals used as replacements for harmful chemicals that have been banned [25]. They range from anti-oxidants [26] to fragrances [27,28], solvents [29] and plasticisers [30,31]. As certain harmful chemicals are being banned and replaced with a variety of new substances, exposure to high levels of some chemicals is decreasing, yet the complexity of mixtures is increasing. This means that more substances at low and medium concentrations become part of the unintentional mixtures that represent our body burden [25]. 17

¹ https://www.hbm4eu.eu/



Chemical pollutants in the home

Within our homes and our daily lives we are exposed to hundreds of chemicals from multiple sources, such as flame retardants in soft furnishings, phthalates in plastic food packaging, or PFAS in cosmetics. Yet most chemical safety regulations completely ignore the fact that we are being simultaneously exposed to a cocktail of hundreds of substances from a diversity of sources.

- PFAS chemicals in waterproof clothing
 Siloxanes, parabens, and many others in shampoo, shaving foam, deodorants
- 3 Oxybenzone UV filter in sunscreens
- Phthalates, parabens, many others in makeup
- 9 PFAS in nonstick cookware e.g. frying pans
- 6 Triclosan in antibacterial handwash
- BPA in some plastic water bottles and food can linings
- 8 Pesticide residues in foods

- PCBs, dioxins, PAHs found in disposal nappies
- Phthalates, flame retardants and bisphenols in children's toys
- Flame retardants in virtually all electronics
- Phthalates, and thousands of secret compounds, in fragrances found in air fresheners, cleaning products, cosmetics, soaps
- Pharmaceuticals and other contaminants in drinking water
- Tattoo inks can contain a mixture of thousands of harmful chemicals

- Flame retardants in furniture and mattresses
- Unknown and unwanted chemicals in recycled products
- 17 Bisphenols in till receipts
- Phthalates and many other plastics additives in food packaging
- PFAS in microwave popcorn bags, bakery bags and compostable food packaging
- Phthalates, flame retardants and volatile organic compounds in vinyl flooring



"Human biomonitoring studies in the EU point to a growing number of different hazardous chemicals in human blood and body tissue, including certain pesticides, biocides, pharmaceuticals, heavy metals, plasticisers and flame retardants. Combined prenatal exposure to several chemicals has led to reduced foetal growth and lower birth rates." European Commission's Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability, 2020 [5]

Children are particularly sensitive to impacts from chemicals. There are developmental periods when the endocrine, reproductive, immune, visual, and nervous systems are particularly sensitive to certain chemicals. These periods are referred to as windows of vulnerability. Chemicals can also be transferred from a mother to her unborn child during pregnancy. Exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals² during this time can lead to serious and irreversible effects later in life because the foetus is unable to protect itself: compensatory and detoxification mechanisms present in the adult are not yet in operation [32].

This is why it is very concerning that mixtures of known and suspected harmful chemicals are present in umbilical cord blood and placentas, as the examples below show. A whole range of chemicals including pesticides, PCBs, PFAS have also been found in breast milk [33,34]. (Even though breast milk is one route by which bioaccumulative chemicals are transferred from mother to baby, breast-feeding is still acknowledged to be the best option for babies' health [35]).

Example 1: In the EU research project EDC-MixRisk³ Swedish scientists tested the blood and urine of pregnant women for 54 potentially hazardous chemicals. In more than half of the 2,300 maternal samples they identified 41 chemicals – including a number of bisphenols, phthalates and PFAS – that are associated with reproductive disorders [12,36].

41

different chemicals found in thousands of pregnant Swedish women

Example 2: In another study 22 persistent organic pollutants (POPs) – synthetic chemicals that degrade very slowly and accumulate in people's body – were analysed in maternal serum, placenta and foetuses from a Swedish cohort of pregnancies that ended in stillbirth. All samples contained at least 15 different chemicals, showing that the foetuses were exposed to mixtures of industrial chemicals [37,38].

² https://chemtrust.org/hormone-disrupting-chemicals-edcs-faq/

³ https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/

⁴ https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/101036631



Progress in analytical chemistry is allowing screening for an increasing range of potential contaminants. Starting from a list of over 3,500 known industrial chemicals, a 2021 US study was able to identify 55 chemicals, previously unreported in the literature, in mothers and their babies [39].

A new EU research project PANORAMIX4, which started in 2021, is investigating possible combination effects of chemicals in the womb.

3.4 ... and some chemicals accumulate in the environment and wildlife (the environmental burden)

Many of the chemicals that society uses find their way into the natural environment, whether via sewage, leaching out of landfill, direct emissions from factories, runoff from fields and parking lots, or deposits from the air. Chemical pollutants accumulate in soils, rivers, the deep ocean and the remote Arctic, exposing wildlife to cocktails of hundreds of chemicals (Figure 2).

The UK saw shocking headlines in 2020 when its Environment Agency reported that only 16% of England's 4,600 rivers, lakes or estuaries achieved "good" ecological health by 2019 – and not a single river achieved a "good" rating for chemical pollution [40]. The situation for the rest of Europe is hardly better: only 40% of Europe's surface waters achieved "good" or "high" ecological status by 2015 [41]. Among the main pressures identified by the European Environment Agency is chemical pollution including from urban wastewater and agriculture. To give one example of a chemical cocktail found in wastewater, a 2020 study identified over 300 contaminants in effluent waters from wastewater treatment plants in Athens, Greece. The synthetic chemicals detected included 66 pesticides, 215 drugs, 10 PFAS and 31 industrial chemicals [42].

315

chemicals detected in 24h in effluent wastewater in Athens, Greece

149

chemicals detected in seabirds' eggs from Norwegian remote colonies

A broad cocktail of chemical pollutants is found at every level of the food chain, from invertebrates in the Danube River [43] to fish in remote Alpine lakes [44] and killer whales in the North Sea [45]. A 2015 study detected 149 chemical substances in eggs of three seabird species from remote colonies in Norway [46]. Concentrations of pollutants such as PFAS, organophosphates, and alkylphenols, were similar to or higher than the legacy persistent organic pollutants such as PCBs banned decades ago.

⁴ https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/101036631



Chemical pollutants in the environment

Chemical pollutants related to human activities find their way into the natural environment via many routes: effluents from wastewater treatment plants connected to households, hospitals, and businesses; runoff from fields, roads, and airports; air and water emissions from factories and waste treatment sites. Chemical pollutants accumulate in soils, rivers and the deep ocean, exposing wildlife throughout the food chain to a cocktail of hundreds of substances.

- Everyday chemicals from clothes, detergents, cosmetics etc. emitted in sewage water from households
- Pharmaceuticals emitted in sewage water from hospitals
- Chemical contaminants discharged into rivers and the sea from wastewater treatment plants
- Pesticides, fertilisers and biosolids contaminate soil, rivers, and groundwater from agriculture

- 5 Veterinary drugs and rodenticides used in farms contaminate soil, water, and fauna
- Car tire leachates contaminate soil and rivers from road runoff
- Industrial chemicals emitted into the air and wastewater from industrial sites
- PFAS contaminates soil and water from firefighting foam used at airfields

- 9 Synthetic chemicals contaminate soil and water from landfill leachates
- Chemical pollutants emitted into the air from incinerators
- Pesticides and veterinary drugs contaminate the sea from aquaculture farms
- Process chemicals, such as lubricants, contaminate the sea from oil rigs
- Chemical contaminants, such as surfactants and biocides, are released into the sea from shipping





3.5 The true chemical burden is unknown

The examples above show the scale of chemical exposure in Europe. However, the true chemical burden on our bodies and the environment is unknown. This is in part owing to the limited scope of monitoring programmes, which focus on a small number of priority substances, and to the limitations of analytical chemistry. There are no procedures by which scientists can simply read out a list of chemicals present in a sample. Only targeted chemicals for which an analytical method has been developed can be quantified, and this is limited by the availability of reference standards⁴ [47]. As a consequence **many of the chemical contaminants and their transformation products that are burdening our bodies and the environment remain unknown.**

To give a sense of the scale of the knowledge gap we can take the example of PFAS – the family of thousands of fluorinated substances. Fewer than 100 of the known PFAS can be measured and identified by chemical analysis. When scientists analyse organic fluorine – a proxy for the total PFAS load – large proportions of the PFAS concentration cannot be accounted for: for instance, 84-99% of the organic fluorine extracted from surface water samples, sediment and fish from Norway was of unidentified origin [48]. In human samples from Austria, on average between nine and 51% of extractable organic fluorine remained unidentified [49].

⁵ A reference standard is the chemical substance in its pure form.

4 THE MIXTURE EFFECT





4.1 What do we mean by mixture effect?

People and wildlife are constantly exposed to a complex mixture of known and unknown chemicals. Among these mixtures, many chemicals have diverse toxicological properties such as acute toxicity, hormone disruption, carcinogenicity, immunotoxicity, neurotoxicity, reprotoxicity etc., which may lead to serious health effects. Toxicological tests allow us to determine what level of exposure to a given chemical can trigger a specific adverse effect. These tests are usually performed on single chemicals.

We're all aware of the danger of mixing various medicines. A doctor will usually ask about our current medications before prescribing, in order to avoid potentially adverse pharmaceutical interactions. Science has shown that when several chemicals contributing towards the same adverse effect are combined in a mixture, their toxicity can add up or interact to produce a *combined effect* or *mixture effect* [1].

Usually, the toxicity of a mixture will follow a simple additive model of the toxicity and concentration of the individual chemicals present in the mixture. The combined effect in this case is best predicted by a *concentration* addition model⁶ [3].

In some cases, the combined effect can be greater than what would be expected on the basis of the toxicity of individual chemicals in the mixture. This is known as *synergism*. In other cases the resulting effect can be weaker, and this is known as *antagonism*. These more complex interactions have been reported less frequently [15].



⁶ The way a chemical exerts its toxicological effect on an organism is called mode of action. Usually, for chemicals with similar modes of toxic action, the resulting toxicity of the mixture will follow a simple additive model of the toxicity and concentrations of the chemicals present in the mixture. This is called the concentration addition model.





4.2 Assessing mixture toxicity

The toxicity of a mixture can be assessed either directly or indirectly. A whole mixture, such as a water sample (unintentional mixture with unknown compounds) or a paint (intentional mixture with known compounds) can be tested directly. Alternatively, a prediction of the combined toxicity can be made, based on the concentration and toxicity of each chemical present in the mixture – which is an indirect assessment.

The concentration addition model is considered the most relevant to predicting the toxicity of mixtures. It can be extended to mixtures with any number of chemicals and has been validated by many studies. A review sponsored by the EU Joint Research Centre of over 1,200 mixture experiments [15] confirmed that "the concentration addition concept can be applied as default for predictive assessment of chemical mixtures." [3]

However, one major drawback in the assessment is the lack of knowledge of the chemicals and their concentrations in real-life mixtures (unintentional mixtures). Chemical analysis detects only those chemicals we are looking for - i.e. those that are targeted, for which the analysis is well-defined and where analytical standards are available. By design, analysis of a sample ignores the many possible non-target chemicals that are also likely to be present. Therefore, the number of chemicals detected in any sample is always an underrepresentation of the real number in a sample.



4.3 "Something from nothing"

In recent decades scientists have begun to conduct robust studies into the effects of chemical mixtures, in particular of endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs). A growing body of evidence indicates that these mixtures can have important adverse effects on health and the environment - even at extremely low concentration when the amount of individual chemicals is considered too small to be of concern [3,50] (Figure 3). This was referred to as "something from nothing" by Silva, Rajapakse and Kortenkamp in a 2002 seminal study [51]. The scientists tested the total estrogenic effect of model mixtures made of eight synthetic chemicals with estrogenic properties (including bisphenol A and paraben). When creating the mixtures they added each chemical at a concentration below their no-observed-effect-concentrations (NOECs) and close to what can be found in environmental samples. Their results show that the chemicals were able to act together to produce significant effects when combined at the low concentrations considered safe for the individual chemical. The resulting mixture effect observed in the study was perfectly predicted by a concentration addition model, in which "every mixture component contributes to the overall combination effect in proportion to its concentration, even below zero effect levels".



Something from nothing - mixture toxicity matters



This is of great concern for people and wildlife because the chemical regulation system is overwhelmingly based on risk assessment performed on individual chemical substances, not in their combination, which is the real-life scenario. **So the true risk resulting from combined exposure to numerous chemicals, even at low levels, is being vastly underestimated. In other words people and wildlife are inadequately protected from real-life exposure to chemical mixtures.**

For example, the EU Water Framework Directive aims to achieve good ecological status in member states' water bodies; it sets Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) for priority chemicals of concern to protect the aquatic environment from chemical risks. In 2014 researchers from the European Commission's Joint Research Centre tested whether the current EQS were protecting the aquatic environment against mixture effects [52]. They tested the combined toxicity of two mixtures of 14 or 19 common environmental contaminants, including pesticides, pharmaceuticals and industrial chemicals. Each chemical in the mixture was present at its EQS level. **They found that although the chemicals were present at concentrations considered safe, clear adverse effects were demonstrated for the tested mixtures. This shows that the current EQS are failing to properly protect aquatic wildlife and ecosystems from combined exposure to multiple contaminants.**





Case study #1 - Muddled reproduction

In the past half century we've witnessed a decline of about 60% in sperm counts in western countries. We've also seen an increase in the incidence of testis cancer and malformations of the reproductive organs in new-born boys [59]. Experiments have demonstrated



serious and irreversible reproductive effects in animals after exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs). There is more and more evidence that this also happens in humans and wildlife [60].

Sexual development is a sensitive process controlled by the hormone system. Estrogens are a group of hormones critical to female sexual development; and androgens are a group of hormones, including testosterone, critical for male sexual development. The hormonal balance in our body is maintained by a sophisticated feedback mechanism, but this mechanism is not fully developed in foetal life. Therefore, the foetus is extremely sensitive to the mother's hormonal balance.

Many synthetic chemicals have the potential to interfere with the function of these hormones and are known as endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs). Environmental contaminants such as phthalates, bisphenol A and other bisphenols, and many pesticides, have been shown to be EDCs and to disturb male sexual development. This may lead to male reproductive disorders at birth, decreased semen quality, and development of testicular cancer in later life; all of which have great impact on male reproductive ability.

In the EDC-MixRisk⁷ research project (see also case study #3) researchers began by identifying chemicals in the blood and urine of more than 2,300 pregnant Swedish women, and correlating these with sexual effects observed in the children [12,36]. They then tested these chemical mixtures in animals and cell cultures to see if the same effects could be confirmed under controlled conditions. **The researchers identified a number of boys with clinical signs of disturbed sexual development.** Four phthalates, all of which are known to reduce the production of testosterone, were present in the boys' mothers. **Following further investigations, the data provided strong evidence that this mixture was responsible for the impacts seen [12,36].**

⁷ https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/



Case study #1 - continued

Time trends of phthalate exposure in Germany have been studied based on human biomonitoring data [53]. In many people the level of exposure back in the 1990s exceeded the acceptable level for the individual phthalates. Following the introduction of EU restrictions on some of the most-used phthalates in the early 2000s, the situation improved. More importantly, however, **the combined exposure to phthalates still exceeded acceptable levels from 2006 onwards.**

Both of the above examples focus on phthalates; but hundreds of other chemical substances are known to disrupt or suspected of disrupting the action of androgenic hormones. These include painkillers such as paracetamol and ibuprofen, numerous pesticides and common pharmaceuticals used to treat fungal infections, high cholesterol, and hair loss [61].

To protect human reproduction, the combined exposure to all endocrine disrupting chemicals from all sources should be taken into account when assessing risks from exposure to chemical substances.





4 THE MIXTURE EFFECT

4.4 Concerns about serious impacts on people and wildlife

Numerous studies demonstrate that the combination of chemicals found in body fluids of people and in environmental media result in increased risk compared to the exposure to individual chemical substances. Studies also show that mixtures are a cause of concern at real-life exposure levels. A 2016 report from the Commission's Joint Research Centre reviewed 21 case studies [14]. The review highlighted the need to address mixture effects across all chemical classes and different pieces of legislation.

The following section summarises some examples that demonstrate increased risk to human health and ecosystems from combined exposures to multiple chemicals.

Estimated mixture effect based on real-life exposure scenarios

A 2020 study of nearly 30 years' worth of data on phthalate exposures in Germany provides a vivid example of the importance of assessing combination exposures [53]. From 2006-2010 **"no study participant experienced exposures above acceptable levels for a single phthalate"** yet the estimated combination effects often exceeded acceptable limits. Moreover, the authors point out that the estimated combination effects encompass only the small set of chemicals under study, ignoring all the other similar chemical substances to which subjects may have been exposed.

The Danish Environmental Protection Agency has shown an increased risk of adverse health effects related to combined exposure to multiple chemical substances in everyday situations. Two studies [54,55] used estimated daily exposure scenarios and data from biomonitoring studies to examine whether pregnant women, the unborn child and children under 3 years of age are at increased risk owing to combined exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) and neurotoxic chemicals. A limited number of chemical substances were included in these studies (35 EDCs in 2012, and 37 EDCs and 39 neurotoxic substances in 2017). **Yet it was clearly shown that the risk of endocrine disrupting effects and neurotoxic effects increased to an unacceptable level when the combined exposure to several chemicals was taken into account.**

A 2017 study of Swedish streams found mixtures of as many as 53 pesticides in river water samples [56]. The researchers used Swedish water quality indicators to calculate the total effect of each of these mixtures. In over 70% of samples the estimated environmental risk exceeded acceptable levels – even though analytical limitations led to a significant underestimation of mixture risks. **While the mixture effects were often driven by only a few important chemicals, these chemicals varied from sample to sample. "Single substance risk mitigation," the authors noted, "will not lower mixture risks to acceptable levels."**



Case study #2 -Immunotoxic cocktail in marine mammals

Marine mammals are long-lived in the wild; up to 30 years for seals and polar bears, 60 years for killer whales (orcas) and 200 years for bowhead whales. Being at the top of the food web and having a long life means a high concentration of contaminants can



build up in their bodies through decades of exposure to trace contaminants in the ocean. Especially bioaccumulative chemicals that are stored in fatty tissues, such as persistent organic pollutants (POPs), can become more concentrated at each level of the food chain.

Lulu, a 20-year-old female killer whale found dead on the cost of Scotland in 2016, had one of the highest levels of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) ever recorded in a wild animal [62]. PCBs, a group of industrial chemicals widely used in the past century, were globally banned in 2001 but are still polluting the environment because of their high persistence. It is not just legacy PCBs that marine mammals are exposed to, however. **Hundreds of different chemical pollutants have been reported in marine wildlife [63]**, including dozens of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), and flame retardants, phthalates, chlorinated paraffins, pesticides and synthetic chemicals derived from personal care products to name a few.

In 2017 an international team of **scientists evaluated the effects of realistic contaminant mixtures on the immune functions of marine mammals [13]**. A deterioration of the immune system can have dire consequences for marine mammals by making them more susceptible to infectious disease and pathogens.

The scientists extracted complex contaminant cocktails from the blubber of dead polar bears and killer whales. They then performed in vitro experiments on immune cells from various species of cetaceans, seals and polar bears.

The results show that the extracted chemical mixtures induced immunotoxic effects on all of the species tested. **Crucially, the effects were observed at lower concentrations than for single chemicals.** The authors concluded that the results of this study "confirm the immunotoxic risk marine mammals face from exposure to complex mixtures of environmental contaminants". They added: "Our results showing lower effect levels for complex mixtures relative to single compounds suggest that previous risk assessments underestimate the effects of real world contaminant exposure on immunity."



Testing the toxicity of real-life mixtures

Case studies #1 and #3 highlight results from the EU Horizon 2020 EDC-MixRisk project⁸ [12,36]. In this project the toxicity of model mixtures of endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) was tested. The model mixtures were designed to match the nature and concentration of EDCs found in blood or urine of pregnant women in Sweden. The project concluded that current regulation of chemicals – based on individual chemical substances – systematically underestimates the health risks associated with combined exposures to EDCs.

An alternative to testing real-life mixture toxicity by creating model mixtures is to test chemical mixtures extracted from an organism or environmental media. The advantage of such a method is that it will take into account both known and unknown chemicals present in the mixture.

As part of the Human Biomonitoring for Europe (HBM4EU⁹) Project a team of scientists examined the combined biological effect of chemical mixtures extracted from the placentas of pregnant Spanish women at full-term [57]. The results of the screening study show that most mixtures triggered estrogenic activities and a clear inhibition of the thyroid activity.

A similar approach is presented in case study #2 where real-life chemical mixtures extracted from marine mammals have been tested for their immunotoxicity.

Applied to environmental media, a classic approach is to test the toxicity of natural water samples. For example, a 2017 study tested the toxicity of water samples from the river Rhine [58]. The original water samples exhibited mutagenic effects in in vitro tests. Scientists identified and tested 21 environmental contaminants (including pharmaceuticals, industrial chemicals and pesticides as well as natural alkaloids) potentially responsible for the mutagenic effect individually, even at a concentration 1,000 times higher than in the original river sample. When mixed together, however, the mixtures exhibited mutagenic effects.

⁸ https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/

⁹ https://www.hbm4eu.eu/

¹⁰ Mutagenic effects refer to induced mutation in the genetic material of organisms.



Case study #3 - Disordered brain development

The thyroid hormone system is essential for the health of humans and wildlife. It directs a number of important body processes such as growth, reproduction, sexual and neurological development, and – not least – brain development. Thus, disruption of this complex hormonal system may lead to serious health effects. It is well known that low maternal levels of thyroid hormones during pregnancy affect children's IQ; and there are indications that even minor variations in maternal levels of thyroid hormones in general may affect brain development [64].

Many environmental contaminants are known to interfere with the thyroid hormone system, potentially leading to impaired foetal and child brain development [19]. A striking and worrying example of daily-life exposure to neurodevelopmental toxicants comes from flame retardants called polybrominated diphenylethers (PBDEs). These chemicals were used extensively until their global ban in 2009. Because of their high persistence and bioaccumulation they are still widely found in the environment and in our bodies, particularly in breastmilk [65].

A human risk assessment for neurodevelopmental toxicity [66] suggested that exposure to combinations of PBDEs may exceed acceptable levels in breastfed 0-3-month-old infants and in small children, even for moderate exposure scenarios. Small children had the highest combined exposures, with some estimated body burdens at levels known to cause neurotoxicity in animal experiments. Acceptable levels of combined PBDEs can also be exceeded in adults whose diets are high in fish.





Case study #3 - continued

Looking at a wider range of neurotoxicants, the EDC-MixRisk¹¹ project (see also case study #1) looked at real-life chemical mixtures that had impacts on children's neurological development and metabolism/growth [12,36]. Neurological impacts identified in the children's cohort studied were language delay aged 30 months and impaired cognitive functions aged 7 years, particularly among boys [67]. Impacts on metabolism/growth were identified by low birth weight and reduced growth at age 5 1/2 [68].

The researchers designed experimental chemical mixtures based on neurotoxic chemicals identified in the blood and urine of the mothers. When these mixtures were tested experimentally in animal and cell models they caused effects and dysfunctions, including on the thyroid hormone system, at exposure levels similar to those measured in the mothers. This shows that real-life chemical mixtures have the potential to affect the brain development of children [12,36].

Given 1) the importance of the thyroid hormone system and the wide variety of chemicals that can interfere with it, and 2) that we are also exposed to other chemicals that may harm brain development by other mechanisms, **it cannot be overemphasised how important it is to include the combined exposure to all neurotoxic chemicals in chemical safety assessments**

¹¹ https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/

5 REGULATORY CHALLENGES



5.1 Authorities usually assess a single chemical at a time ...

The staggering complexity of our daily chemical exposures stands in sharp contrast to the simple assumptions made by regulatory agencies and chemical companies. The general process of risk assessment used in REACH, and in most other regulatory controls of chemicals, relies on single-chemical toxicological studies to identify a safe (or 'acceptable') level of exposure for a chemical of concern¹². If available, data from human epidemiological studies and/or environmental field studies are also used to complement the single-chemical assessment. This in itself is a challenge, because of the diversity of effects that may be relevant – from carcinogenicity to endocrine disruption to immunotoxicity – and the challenges of measuring those impacts.



In the majority of cases each chemical is assessed as if it is the only one we are exposed to, as if hazardous chemicals are emitted into a pristine environment or human body. The small amount of 'acceptable' risk is sometimes envisioned as a cup which can hold a certain amount of risk but must not be overfilled (Figure 5). As long as the real-life exposure is lower than this amount – as long as the *risk cup* does not overflow – the chemical exposure is considered acceptable. This approach has an obvious flaw: it assumes that the risk cup contains only that one exposure. This means our current regulations permit each and every chemical of concern to completely fill the risk cup, regardless of what other chemicals might be in it. Another important caveat is the assumption that a threshold of 'safe' exposure exists – which is not the case for chemicals with persistent, genotoxic or hormone disrupting properties (see also Guide 4).

¹² The safe or acceptable level of exposure is derived from information related to the health/environmental effect regarded as the most relevant and sensitive at that time.



Guide 2 – Data gaps are the big limitation in all chemicals assessments

It is well recognised that the European Union's chemicals regulations cannot keep up with evaluations even of single chemicals. Although REACH was successful in closing some of the knowledge gaps on environment and human health properties for over 23,000 chemical substances, the data are often far from adequate even to evaluate the hazards of single chemicals [69].

Compliance checks by ECHA in 2020 found that 88% of the registration dossiers for chemical substances required additional information [70]. The authorities' substance evaluation proceeds at a glacial pace: in 2020 evaluations were published for only 30 chemicals, nearly half of which were recommended for additional risk-management measures [71]. Since REACH came into force in 2007 only about 50 of the most problematic chemicals – the Substances of Very High Concern (SVHC) – have been moved to the REACH authorisation list (Annex XIV). Nearly 200 others are waiting on the Candidate List. Yet the Substitute It Now (SIN) List, maintained by the Swedish NGO ChemSec, lists more than 1,000 which should be designated as SVHCs under REACH and replaced by safer alternatives.

Another example of the data gap is the lack of information on chemicals used in food contact materials. A recent overview compiled a database of 12,285 substances that could possibly be used worldwide to manufacture food contact materials [72]. For over a quarter of them no hazard information could be found. This hampers prioritisation for further assessment and exposure reduction.

More needs to be done to speed up the management of risks from **single chemicals** and prevent the use of chemicals of concern in wide dispersive and consumer uses. For **mixtures** these knowledge gaps will hamper the quality of assessments [3]. Closing these knowledge gaps will take time; meanwhile people and wildlife are being exposed. This is why restriction of the most hazardous chemicals from consumer products, as promised in the EU Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability, will have to be implemented as part of the upcoming REACH revision in order to reduce overall chemical exposure [73].



5.2 ... and authorities have failed to properly consider mixture effects for years

Scientists have been studying mixtures for several decades but it was not until the 1990s that calls to incorporate cumulative assessment in chemical regulation became louder (Figure 4). The 2001 Commission White Paper for a new EU Chemicals System (REACH) mentioned the need for more research on the combined effects of multiple chemical exposures. Then, over several years, a growing number of publications demonstrated that real-life mixtures can have unexpected effects. In 2007, an international workshop was arranged by WHO and the International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS) with the aim of initiating risk assessment of combined exposure [74]. Finally in the EU, in 2009, DG Environment commissioned a comprehensive review of chemical mixtures [1]. The report concluded that there was already "a consensus in the field of mixture toxicology that the customary chemical-by-chemical approach to risk assessment might be too simplistic." It added: "It is in danger of underestimating the risk of chemicals to human health and to the environment." The report prompted several research activities to consider in detail how the problem of mixtures might be added to REACH and other regulatory frameworks. In 2014 a German Environment Agency report provided recommendations for better consideration of environmental assessment of mixtures for the actors under REACH [75]. It also highlighted the options for authorities to assess mixture risks, e.g. during substance evaluation or in the context of restriction and authorisation.

Many years later, despite substantial progress in the science of chemical mixtures, almost no regulatory action has been taken. A 2019 report by the Swedish government concluded that "the last ten years have been a phase of confirmation and consolidation of knowledge about mixture risks"; but on the specific details of implementation, the report continued, "progress is slow" [2]. It notes that little progress has been made on the specific legal bases for mixture risk assessments, a need highlighted by the 2009 review.

5 REGULATORY CHALLENGES

1980s —

Additivity effects demonstrated in fish and other aquatic organisms

2007 -

International WHO/IPCS workshop on combined exposures of multiple chemicals



2010

EU Commission Report "State of the art of mixture toxicity"

2013

EU 7th Environment Action Plan promises to address combination effects of chemicals

2018 -

EU Commission announces ban on four phthalate chemicals due to their combination effects

2019

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) develops a framework when evaluating the potential "combined effects" of chemical mixtures in food and feed

Decades of inaction on mixture toxicity



2009

Nordic Council Workshop on combination effects.
EU Council conclusions
"Combination effects of chemicals"

2012

2015

Commission Communication on "The combination effects of chemicals"



Swedish chemicals Agency KEMI proposes the use of a mixture assessment factor (MAF)

2019

Joint statement from global researchers recommend the application of a MAF as a way to decrease the total burden of exposure to chemical mixtures

- 2020

EU Chemical Strategy for Sustainability recommends assessment of inclusion of MAF in REACH and provisions to address mixtures in other laws





5.3 EU approaches on mixture assessments fall short ...

A handful of policies in the EU explicitly mention the consideration of mixture effects. However, they mostly refer to intentional mixtures under a specific regulation. Several laws do include some provision for the assessment of a certain product for market approval (e.g. for a formulation where the mixture composition is known). And an assessment of cumulative and synergistic effects is required for biocides and pesticides, as well as pesticide residues in food [4]. But an overarching approach – one that covers the risks from combined exposure to <u>all</u> chemicals co-occurring in the environment or human tissues, i.e. unintentional mixtures – is missing.

The mixture assessments in EU laws are partial in that they are limited to the chemical substances covered by their specific regulations (e.g. cosmetic ingredients or pesticides or biocides) [76]. In other words, they are done in silos, as if the same person could not be using cosmetics <u>and</u> be exposed to pesticides.

A 2016 report from the Commission's Joint Research Centre pointed out that "even though methodologies for assessing/estimating the combination effects of chemicals are being developed and used by scientists and regulators in specific circumstances... so far there is no systematic, comprehensive and integrated approach across different pieces of legislation." [14]

Based on this, the Commission Staff working document from 2020 concluded that "requirements on the assessment of unintentional mixtures are broadly absent" and recommended additional efforts to introduce and strengthen provisions in EU legislation.



The following examples illustrate how combined exposures to similarly-acting chemicals have been assessed for a group of PFAS, for pesticides and a group of plasticisers. These assessments are steps forward but remain limited.

Example 1: Mixture considerations in food safety

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has initiated several assessments of mixture toxicity over the years [77] and in 2019 published guidance on different risk assessment methods for combined exposure to multiple chemicals that fall under EFSA's remit [78]. EFSA used this guidance to set recommendations for the tolerable intake for the sum of four PFAS which have been found in food and are co-occurring in humans [79]. While it is a very important step in the right direction this approach should be broadened to consider and act on overall exposure to other chemicals from all sources (see Guide 6).

For over a decade EU law has required cumulative and synergistic effects of pesticides to be addressed in the regulation of maximum residue levels for pesticides in food. However, this has not yet been implemented and regulators continue to carry out safety assessments as if humans were exposed to only one pesticide [80]. EFSA's more recent work included two cumulative risk assessments of pesticides causing effects on the nervous system and thyroid hormone system [81,82]. The studies took into account only pesticides that were authorised at the time of the assessment, even though some banned pesticides are still detected in EU food [83]. The reports concluded that dietary exposure to pesticide mixtures is below the threshold which would trigger further regulatory action. CHEM Trust and others have criticised these approaches as being too narrow and for concluding safety despite data limitations and large uncertainties [84]. For instance, a child is exposed to chemicals which affect the nervous system from a variety of sources. The cumulative risk assessment should therefore address all neurotoxicants present including those in indoor air, dust and food contact materials etc.



Example 2: Restriction of four phthalates under REACH

REACH mainly focuses on individual chemical substances¹³. One rare example of risk management based on cumulative assessment is the 2018 restriction of four phthalates [85]. Using biomonitoring data it was shown that these substances pose an unacceptable risk to human health when present in any plasticised material at a concentration – individually or in any combination – above 0.1 %. This very important restriction has been long overdue and shows that the REACH restriction process can and should be used to address combined effects from multiple chemicals. However, it required a large amount of data on the hazards and exposures to these four phthalates, which is usually not available for most substances. Moreover, decisions based on (human) biomonitoring data are retrospective; meaning that exposure has taken place and impacts will probably already have happened. Therefore, restriction processes need to be complemented with a more prospective¹⁴ one to enhance protection against combined exposure to chemicals.

5.4 Why a mixture assessment factor (MAF) is a solution

A full assessment of all combinations of chemical contaminants to which people and wildlife are being exposed is impossible – and so, therefore, is estimating the true toxic effect of these daily cocktails. Even if all combinations were identified, estimating the effect of these mixtures would require detailed understanding of the effects of each chemical, as well as the amount, timing and route of each exposure. This is an extraordinary challenge – it is simply impossible to test all potential reallife exposure scenarios.

While highlighting the near-impossibility of comprehensive specific mixture risk assessments for different mixture scenarios, however, scientists point out that "intermediate" approaches can be applied to the problem immediately. A Nordic Council workshop in 2010 on combination effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals agreed to the idea of applying a Mixture Assessment Factor (MAF) (see Guide 3 and Figure 5). In 2015 the EU's Joint Research Centre described the MAF as one of the scientific tools available to address risks from combined exposures [86]. In 2020 researchers from five major EU research projects – HBM4EU¹⁵, SOLUTIONS¹⁶, EDC-MixRisk¹⁷, EU-ToxRisk¹⁸ and EuroMix¹⁹, as well as CHEM Trust – supported the MAF as a concrete step forward [87].

¹³ REACH also includes special considerations for multi-constituent substances (MCS) and so-called UVCBs (substances of unknown or variable composition).

¹⁴ 'Prospective' as opposed to 'retrospective': a retrospective assessment analyses the cause of a damage which is already done (e.g. polluted river). A prospective assessment tries to predict the potential damage, ideally before putting a chemical on the market.

¹⁵ https://www.hbm4eu.eu/

¹⁶ https://www.solutions-project.eu/

¹⁷ https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/

¹⁸ https://www.eu-toxrisk.eu/

¹⁹ https://www.euromixproject.eu/



Guide 3 - What is the MAF?

The MAF – Mixture Assessment Factor or Mixture Allocation Factor – is a factor applied to a single chemical's evaluation to lower the 'safe' or permitted level of exposure to a chemical. **The MAF acts as a safety net to account for the mixture toxicity that would result from the combined exposure to one given chemical, and other known and unknown chemical substances.** It is a tool that can be applied to the established chemical risk assessment process done on single substances.

The MAF builds on the *uncertainty factor* approach. When conducting risk assessments on single chemicals to derive 'safe' levels of exposures, it is common to apply *uncertainty factors* (sometimes called *safety factors*). These factors acknowledge the uncertainties inherent in the estimation process [3]. As an example, let's take the extrapolation of safe exposure levels derived from animal studies to humans. In this case an uncertainty factor of 100 will be applied; and the value of the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) derived from animal studies will be divided by 100 to set a safe level for humans²⁰. **The MAF is an <u>additional factor</u> applied to account for the total risk of mixture exposure. (Figure 5)**

The MAF is practical because it considers the contribution of every chemical to mixture toxicity in a systematic way, without requiring knowledge of the chemicals present, their concentrations or hazard profile. It is a good tool for compensating for data gaps and can help create a straightforward, protective system for managing the unknown.

The advantage of a generic MAF is that it operates within the existing chemicalby-chemical regulatory process, avoiding the need to develop novel mixtureassessment processes for each possible chemical combination. Its application means, effectively, building a default mixture-assessment into the regulatory 'safe' dose for each substance and/or group of substances.

The MAF approach is simple, protective (if set at a high enough value) and based on well-understood scientific models of combination effects. It provides a clear path to incorporate mixtures assessment into the existing regulatory process in a science-based, yet precautionary way.

Using a MAF in scientific assessment would end the practice of 1) assessing chemicals in isolation regardless of the real-life cocktail of exposures; and 2) ignoring the reality of environmental contamination and our body burden of chemicals.

²⁰ The result of the subsequent risk characterisation will obviously depend on the (eco) toxicological endpoint investigated, on the exposure estimations and several other implicit assumptions. This is why many controversies in chemical regulation evolve around the question of 'safe levels' - as these will determine the protection - or lack thereof.



Let's start with a cup. This cup holds the maximum amount of acceptable risk from exposure to chemicals. **We call it the 'risk cup'.**

Classic chemical risk assessment assumes that risks only occur when the cup overflows.

Currently, chemical risk assessment usually considers only one chemical - each chemical is allowed to fill one cup.

But in reality, we are exposed to several chemicals at once and the 'risk cup' overflows - we are not protected from the combined exposure to chemicals.

The solution is to reduce by a factor - **the MAF** - the space every chemical gets to contribute to the overall combined risk in the cup.

Like this, there is room for all chemicals and we are better protected from real life exposure

The 'risk cup' should be able to hold hundreds of chemicals and also leave extra room for the unknown.

All worrisome substances with no safe level of exposure, e.g. endocrine disrupting chemicals, should be substituted wherever possible.





Ē

44

6 THE WAY FORWARD FOR EU POLICY



Two major shortcomings in the current chemical regulatory framework lead to systematic underestimation of the risks from real-life mixtures exposure:

1. The assessment and management of chemicals mostly in isolation; and

2. The assessment and management of chemicals within regulatory silos (e.g. REACH, pesticide legislation, food contact material law etc.)

We must also consider that we are not dealing with a few novel chemicals being examined before being placed on the EU market. We are addressing the thousands of chemicals already in use, as well as banned legacy chemicals that persist – and we are potentially exposed to all of these. This means that **time spent on further research**, **analysis**, **or debating regulatory approaches leads to continued exposures and therefore increased risks of adverse impacts**. It is therefore imperative to **apply precautionary approaches to protect against current combined exposures to chemicals**. We have enough evidence of risks from combined exposures (see Chapter 4) and should not lose more time waiting for more data and resources for complex mixture assessments.

In recent years research has delivered more tools for dealing with the risks from mixtures [88]. Now it is time for policymakers to act to close the protection gap.

"Mixture risk assessment is needed for better protection of humans and the environment. Scientifically justifiable tools are available and ready for use in risk-assessment practice." Kortenkamp and Faust, Science, 2018 [88]

In a significant step the European Commission in its 2020 Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability has committed to protecting people and the environment from the combination effect of chemical mixtures. It recognises, however, that "it is currently not realistic nor economically feasible to specifically assess and regulate an almost infinite number of possible combinations of chemicals" [5].

The Commission's main commitments are therefore to:

1. "assess how to best introduce in REACH (a) **mixture assessment factor(s)** for the chemical safety assessment of substances";

2. "introduce or reinforce provisions to take account of the **combination effects in other relevant legislation**, such as legislation on water, food additives, toys, food contact material, detergents and cosmetics".

EU chemical-related policies are now being revised in the wake of the Chemicals Strategy publication. This provides a window of opportunity to include provisions that address mixture toxicity.

This section presents CHEM Trust's recommendations on the introduction of a MAF, and on how to integrate mixture assessment in all relevant legislations. Finally, it lists immediate actions to reduce mixture toxicity by lowering overall chemical exposure.



Guide 4 - FAQ on MAF

Will the MAF enhance protection?

Yes, if large enough. The MAF is a pragmatic first step to increase protection. It is a useful tool to manage unknowns, i.e. daily-life exposure to the hundreds of chemicals. The level of protection will depend on the magnitude of the MAF (see Guide 5), which is still under discussion.

Does the MAF apply to non-threshold substances?

No. The MAF is not intended to deal with non-threshold substances – those for which no safe level of exposure can be assumed owing to high uncertainties in the risk assessment. For non-threshold substances – such as genotoxicants, persistent chemicals and endocrine disrupters – emissions and exposures should be minimised. This means stringent risk-management measures, including restrictions. REACH foresees the eventual replacement of all Substances of Very High Concern with safer alternatives.

Aren't mixture effects already covered by the uncertainty factors normally used in risk assessment?

No. The uncertainty factors currently used cover protection of vulnerable individuals and conversion of animal data to predict the effects in humans, not mixture effects [90,94]. An additional factor is needed to account for the reality of combined exposure to multiple chemicals from multiple sources.

Why is a MAF needed if all risks from all single chemical substances are controlled (i.e. chemical exposure is below the individual risk levels)?

Science has shown that exposure to a chemical mixture can lead to adverse effects on health and the environment, even if the concentrations of all the individual chemicals – from different sources and uses – are below their individual thresholds for what is considered 'safe'. So, while ensuring better compliance with current laws is urgently needed to prevent risks for health and the environment, on its own this will not address the additional risk from mixture toxicity.



Guide 4 - continued

Why can't we just identify the key toxicants, given that usually a few chemicals are driving mixture toxicity?

Research has found that the toxicity of many mixtures is often driven by five to 10 substances [95]. The problem is that these chemicals are not always the same. They vary with time and location for different exposure situations (e.g. in rivers or indoor air), as do their concentrations. Therefore, if the overall risk needs to be addressed, gathering data only on a few priority chemicals will not suffice.

If sufficient data are available it is possible to calculate the risk from combined exposures. So why do we need the MAF?

Targeted mixture risk assessments have a role to play for well-characterised, defined scenarios (see Guide 6). However, for protecting human health and wildlife from multiple chemicals from all exposure sources this approach is not feasible. The data gaps of these unintentional mixtures will not be filled any time soon, and will always be an underestimate.

The MAF is a tool to address the concerns about mixture effects by compensating for the unknowns and the existing data gaps. Avoiding exposures altogether is not a realistic option. There is no alternative to applying a MAF to ensure better protection.

The proposal to use the MAF in REACH registration will affect all chemicals. Is it not better to develop a more targeted approach?

In fact, inserting the MAF in REACH registration would only apply to substances produced/imported in quantities above 10 tonnes per year in the EU. This is a major limitation. But at least for those above 10 tonnes the MAF will be easy to apply as part of chemical assessments by inserting an additional factor into established procedures. Crucially, additional risk-management measures will only be triggered when the risks are exceeded.

48



6 THE WAY FORWARD FOR EU POLICY

6.1 MAF as a tool in REACH

The EU's main chemicals law, REACH, is being revised, and discussions on how to increase protection against mixture effects have started. A 2020 workshop held by Sweden and the Netherlands proposed the introduction of a MAF in REACH [16] based on previous work [89,90]. CHEM Trust, together with several NGOs, supports this proposal as a first step while pointing to additional measures needed, including a horizontal approach across EU laws and a stronger emphasis on substitution of harmful chemicals [91,92]. A recent paper from the German Environment Agency discusses options for addressing chemical mixtures, including a MAF, in the different parts of the REACH framework [93].

MAF in REACH registration: When companies want to market an industrial chemical, they have to fill in a registration dossier, providing data on hazards and uses. For all chemicals produced/imported in quantities of more than 10 tonnes per year a chemical safety assessment is required and companies are obliged to demonstrate safe use of the chemical. Currently this process is limited to a single substance approach and companies are allowed to ignore risks from combined exposure with other chemicals.

This has to change. Companies must consider the contributions of their chemicals to an overall mixture effect. This can be done by dividing the estimated 'safe' levels of exposure to a chemical by the MAF (value to be determined, see Guide 5) to create a higher safety margin (Figure 5).

The alternative to using a MAF would be to require a detailed safety assessment of all mixture scenarios. This would mean an increased demand for high-quality data on hazards and exposures and specific knowledge of all possible mixture exposure scenarios. Even if current data gaps on single substances in REACH registration dossiers are addressed over time and dossier quality improves, it is unrealistic to expect assessments for all unintended mixture situations across the whole life-cycle of a single chemical.



MAF in REACH restrictions and authorisations: When risks are exceeded, authorities usually impose risk-management measures such as restrictions on the use and manufacture of a chemical substance. For Substances of Very High Concern a separate authorisation procedure decides whether the specific chemical is allowed to be used for a certain purpose, based on an application from industry. **So far, consideration of mixture toxicity in REACH restriction has been ad hoc and not systematic.** An example is the restriction of four phthalates based on human biomonitoring data [85] and the application of a MAF for the restriction of 4,000 chemical substances in tattoo inks [20]. In CHEM Trust's view a more systematic **approach is needed to apply a MAF in all assessments.** This is particularly important for single substances belonging to a chemical group for which there are known coexposures to other similar substances such as bisphenols, phthalates, PFAS etc. Single-substance or chemical group assessments should no longer be performed without consideration of joint exposure to other chemicals from multiple sources.

The use of a MAF to assess mixture toxicity generically will still allow the use of targeted mixture risk assessment in specific situations or legal contexts when required (see Guide 6). However, such assessments are currently usually sector specific and do not include exposure to the same or similar substances from all other sources (see Chapter 5.3). Therefore, these approaches could be complemented with the MAF concept.





Guide 5 - Setting the value of the MAF

An obvious challenge of the MAF approach is choosing a value that will adequately protect for a wide range of chemical substances and combinations. The value might depend on the number of chemicals expected to be combined; their modes of action, and the ways in which they add or act together; and on the safety margin incorporated to protect human health or the environment. **In keeping with the precautionary approach laid out both by REACH and the Chemical Strategy for Sustainability, the largest reasonable MAF should be used.** This factor should be applied in all cases to cover real-life combined exposure to multiple chemicals from multiple sources.

A 2015 analysis by the Swedish Chemical Agency KEMI suggested that, for a mixture of *n* chemicals, a MAF of about '*n*' would be protective. This assumes that the concentration addition model is followed and that no single chemical exceeds its 'safe' level [90]. The large numbers of chemicals present in the aquatic environment has been shown in many studies; and information about the occurrence of hundreds of chemicals in European rivers or groundwater can be accessed via the NORMAN database²¹. Gustavsson et al. [56] detected up to 53 out of 141 pesticides in one water sample. Markert et al. found 98 out of 153 substances including pesticides, pharmaceuticals and industrial chemicals [96]. The EU research project SOLUTIONS²² modelled pressure on ecosystems from mixtures of up to 1,785 chemicals [97]. One could therefore argue in theory for a support of a very large MAF, even implying a MAF above 1,000. However, this constitutes the worst-case scenario, assuming that all chemicals contribute equally to the mixture. This would be an overestimation of the contribution of each substance, so an adequate MAF will be smaller than the number of chemicals in the potential mixture.

A 2019 report for the Swedish government on combination effects summarised the regulatory context and scientific background, and made recommendations for improving the protection from chemical mixtures. It also included a review of current proposals for the value of a MAF which range from 4 to 100 [95].

²² https://www.solutions-project.eu/

²¹ https://www.norman-network.com/nds/empodat/



Guide 5 - continued

A more recent **KEMI report, from 2021** [98], analysed published mixture risk assessments and concluded that a MAF of 10 would be sufficiently protective for mixtures of up to 30 chemicals, while a MAF of 20 would protect against 95% of the analysed mixtures and **MAF of 50** would be sufficient for all of the mixtures investigated in that project. **However, this analysis is still an underestimation of real-world scenarios:** 1) it was based on available data and only a small number of chemical substances are monitored in the environment, leaving out unidentified pollutants which may significantly contribute to the mixture risk; 2) substances without regulatory thresholds were excluded from the MAF calculation – many substances do not have these thresholds set.

Research has shown that mixtures in the real world can be more complex, with many more unidentified chemicals from various, sometimes unknown, sources and with levels varying over time. Therefore, in CHEM Trust's view a MAF to protect the environment and human health needs to cover this uncertainty. It should therefore be set at 100 to **cover exposure to all chemicals, from all potential sources**.

Our proposal to establish a MAF of 100 includes:

1. A factor of 10 addressing the different chemicals contributing to a mixture (several hundred chemicals are usually present in real-life samples; however, it has been found that about 10% of chemicals present are responsible for 90% of the mixture toxicity [99];

2. A factor of 10 addressing different exposure sources (ranging from biocides, cosmetics, pesticides and detergents; to uses in food contact materials, toys and other consumer products as well as from ambient air, soil, and food and drinking water), and the other uncertainties.

This approach would address:

- the risk of mixture effects due to the combined exposure to other chemicals;
- the risk of combined exposures to the same chemical from different sources;
- the uncertainties coming from exposure to unknown chemicals with unknown toxicity.

The MAF introduction in REACH would be a very important step forward in more widely accounting for unintentional co-exposures in chemicals legislations. In order to protect vulnerable groups it is essential that chemical assessments cover the most sensitive toxicological impacts, including considerations of critical windows of exposure such as early-life development - as indeed should be the case for every single-substance safety assessment.





6.2 Bypassing the regulatory silos: consider combination effects in all chemical-related laws

In its Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability the European Commission highlighted the need to "take account of the **combination effects in other relevant legislation**, such as legislation on water, food additives, toys, food contact material, detergents and cosmetics" [5].

CHEM Trust strongly supports regulatory action on combination effects beyond REACH and recommends that an action plan with dedicated timelines should be developed. Researchers have also recommended an overarching systematic approach to set research and policy objectives on mixtures. Otherwise, policies to address mixtures will remain insufficient [87].

In sector/product-specific laws: Chemicals' 'safe' level of exposure should no longer be decided on the risk assessment of a single substance in its regulatory silo. Cumulative risk assessments in any sector/product-specific laws should also consider co-exposures to chemicals regulated under different laws (see Guide 6). A clear legal mandate for such an approach should be inserted in all laws. Even if product-specific legislation could ensure that all known exposures fit in the risk cup (Figure 5), we run the risk of overflowing when we add the many unknown, unanticipated or background environmental exposures to which we are all subject. Such complex assessments are taking a lot of time and resources, and include many uncertainties. Therefore, there is a need for a more pragmatic way forward – to add a generic MAF for mixture assessment.

The upcoming revisions of various EU laws are the perfect opportunity to implement these provisions (e.g. industrial chemicals (REACH), cosmetics, toys, food contact materials). The aim is to improve companies' safety assessments as well as strengthen the possibilities for authorities to act on known co-exposures to harmful chemicals and to consider the unknowns.



In media-oriented laws: Mixture assessment must go beyond sector/productspecific regulations. It should also be integrated into retrospective, media-oriented legislation that aims to protect the environment, such as the Water Framework Directive (WFD) and in deriving environmental quality standards (EQS).

For instance, to improve the protection of aquatic environments from exposure to multiple pollutants, the European Collaborative Project SOLUTIONS²³ recommended updating the WFD technical guidance with a "comprehensive mixture assessment framework" and improving "coordination across all pieces of European chemicals legislation" [100].

It will also be important to prioritise resources to expand our knowledge of pollutants that occur in the environment, as it is critical to perform comprehensive mixture assessments. **The EU platform IPCHEM**²⁴ **will play an increasing role in searching, accessing and retrieving chemical occurrence data collected and managed in Europe. But despite significant investment of effort in large-scale monitoring over recent years, these data are still only showing the tip of the iceberg.** Efforts such as those carried out under the SOLUTIONS project, to develop tools that predict the occurrence of chemical pollutants on a European scale, are useful in helping to fill these gaps [97].



²³ https://www.solutions-project.eu/

²⁴ https://ipchem.jrc.ec.europa.eu/



Guide 6 - Improving current approaches to targeted mixture risk assessments

When all the chemicals present in a given mixture are known, as well as their concentration and all hazard properties, it is possible to make a prediction of the toxicity of the mixture using the concentration addition model (see chapter 4.2). The WHO/IPCS, OECD and EFSA have described various approaches to perform targeted mixture assessments [74,78,101]. The EU research project EuroMix²⁵ has also provided a useful overview of the different scientific approaches [102] and a handbook for mixture risk assessment [103].

These approaches are mostly aimed at addressing a specific exposure scenario. They do not consider the overall real-life exposure to chemicals, including the unknowns. They can be applied to intentional mixtures of known compositions, such as a cosmetic product. They can also be useful in retrospective mixture risk assessments of specific sites for which monitoring data are available; for instance, in a contaminated area where specific mitigation measures need to be decided.

In most real-life scenarios the majority of key information necessary to perform comprehensive targeted mixture risk assessments is missing and it is therefore very limited. Applying a MAF would partly fill the gaps. Targeted assessments certainly have their role to play in addressing the risks from exposure to some mixtures – in particular, whenever sufficient data and the resources needed to perform such assessment are available.

The overall usefulness of mixture risk assessments can be improved by:

1 - Avoiding too narrow a focus by considering all substances with similar harmful effects from various sources, beyond their regulatory silos (e.g. pesticides, pharmaceuticals, industrial chemicals).

2 – Highlighting the uncertainties and limitations when communicating conclusions and safety recommendations derived from the assessment. When applying a certain methodology, all assumptions and decisions taken need to be transparent and welldocumented.

²⁵ https://www.euromixproject.eu/



6.3 Immediate action: lowering the overall burden of chemical exposure

A critical way to reduce the risk from exposure to mixtures of chemicals is to lower the overall burden of exposure to harmful chemicals from all sources.

To speed up the substitution of chemicals of concern with safer alternatives, CHEM Trust proposes two key actions:

 establish an EU action plan to reduce exposure to the most common combination of chemicals detected in people and the environment;
 assess and manage chemicals in groups of related substances rather than as single substances.



1. Developing policy priorities to reduce the most common exposures to harmful chemicals detected in ecosystems and people: Developing methodologies to identify ways of prioritising exposure scenarios will be a useful step forward. It is important to differentiate between a prospective risk evaluation for future use based on exposure modelling and a retrospective risk assessment based on monitoring data. The most relevant findings from human biomonitoring and environmental monitoring studies should be used to develop common exposure scenarios to prioritise the setting of regulatory controls. This is one way of speeding up the substitution of substances of concern and minimising the combined exposure of the general population and the wider environment to harmful chemicals.

As a caveat it should be noted that chemical analysis of environmental and human samples relies on the availability of analytical reference standards This means that many substances potentially present in the environment and our bodies are being missed. Reference standards should be provided by chemical producers to facilitate their identification and quantification in any sample.



2. Increasing the use of grouping of chemicals: CHEM Trust has argued for several years that chemicals from the same group or with the same function should be regulated together (e.g. bisphenols, phthalates, PFAS, brominated flame retardants). This is necessary to minimise chemical exposure and speed up the substitution of hazardous chemicals with safer alternatives, while avoiding regrettable substitution [104]. Work by ECHA on the assessment of more than 450 substances in 19 groups, in an effort to speed up regulatory action on chemicals of concern [105], is a welcome development in that direction.

In the absence of good data to show the contrary, chemicals in the same group, with a similar structure, should be assumed to have the toxicological properties as harmful as those of the most toxic known chemical in the group. The exception would be where industry comes forward with substantial data to prove that a chemical does not have these properties. Such an approach reverses the burden of proof, which is currently mostly on the regulators, and encourages industry to move away from problematic groups of chemicals. Currently, absence of data is one of the best ways to keep a chemical on the market - and this incentivises companies to challenge any attempt to get more data. Grouping of chemicals enhances producer responsibility. It needs to be used in REACH and other chemical regulations, such as the laws on chemicals in food contact materials.

7 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS





Currently, the general population is exposed to a large number of chemicals with highly concerning properties which can lead to irreversible and serious health impacts, including birth defects and cancer. When it comes to exposure to developmental neurotoxic chemicals and endocrine disrupting chemicals, brain development and reproduction of future generations are at stake. Therefore, it is imperative to apply precautionary approaches for protection against exposures to mixtures of chemicals now, rather than postponing action until more data and resources for complex mixture assessments are available. The same holds true for protecting nature from chemical pollution as part of urgent efforts to avert the biodiversity crisis.

Evidence from recent EU research projects has demonstrated that the current EU chemicals laws systematically underestimate the risk to human health and the environment from combined exposures to chemicals. The need to consider the risk of combination effects of mixtures was already highlighted by the 7th EU Environment Action Programme (7th EAP) in 2013 [106]. This commitment to action has been ignored by the European Commission for too long, but at last there is some momentum for change. The new EU Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability includes important policy commitments to address the risks from mixture exposures. This is a critical window of opportunity which should not be missed. **Science has delivered tools which can be integrated into legislation – now it is time for policy makers to act.**

CHEM Trust urges the European Commission and Member States to act now to improve the protection of human health and the environment from mixture effects.



CHEM Trust recommends the following measures for EU chemical policy on mixtures:

1. Incorporating mixture assessment into all EU chemical regulations

- A Mixture Assessment Factor (MAF) should be incorporated in all chemical assessments. We assess that a factor of 100 would be optimal to cover the contributions of different chemicals to mixture toxicity, the different sources of exposure, and additional uncertainties related to unknown chemicals.
- This MAF should be introduced to the main EU industrial chemical law, REACH, as soon as possible, as part of implementation of the Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability. This is an uncertainty factor that should be incorporated into the chemical uncertainty assessment of individual substances when they are registered or their registrations are updated. The MAF will be an important step forward but its ability to be a gamechanger depends on the provisions that detail how and when it will be applied.
 - A legal requirement for mixture assessments should be integrated into other EU chemicals laws during upcoming revisions, including those stipulated by the Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability. It is essential to integrate approaches to address mixture toxicity in all relevant EU laws and in many cases the best option will be a MAF approach. Where targeted mixture assessments are used they must be improved, e.g. by widening the number and scope of substances covered and by introducing more transparency about inherent uncertainties and limitations.

2. Identify and control the use of the most hazardous chemicals, to reduce the quantity of hazardous chemicals we are exposed to

- There should be more resources put into biomonitoring and environmental monitoring programmes in the EU, and harmful chemicals found in humans and the wider environment should be prioritised for regulatory action. It is particularly important to reduce exposure to persistent chemicals and endocrine (hormone) disrupting chemicals.
- Regulatory processes for controlling the use of chemicals must become faster and more protective. One tool in achieving this is through grouping of chemicals for regulatory measures. Chemicals from a group (e.g. bisphenols, phthalates, PFAS, brominated flame retardants) should be regulated together under REACH, and in other chemical-related laws to speed up substitution with safer alternatives.

While further research activities will be useful to fine-tune chemicals assessments and tools, **it is crucial to avoid making the problem too big to solve.** The ultimate goal is to protect human health, wildlife and the wider environment from the harmful impacts of combined exposures to multiple chemicals. **This is the gap that needs to be closed now, acting on the clear scientific warnings to deliver the aspirations and promises of the European Green Deal.**

7 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

60



GLOSSARY AND ABBREVIATIONS

ECHA	European Chemicals Agency
EDC MixRisk	Integrating Epidemiology and Experimental Biology to Improve Risk Assessment of Exposure to Mixtures of Endocrine Disruptive Compounds
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EQS	Environmental Quality Standards
EuroMix	European Test and Risk Assessment Strategies for Mixtures
EU-ToxRisk	An Integrated EUropean 'Flagship' Programme Driving Mechanism-based TOXicity Testing and RISK Assessment for the 21st century
HBM4EU	European Human Biomonitoring Initiative
IPCHEM	Information Platform for Chemical Monitoring
JRC	Joint Research Centre
КЕМІ	Swedish Chemicals Agency
MAF	Mixture Assessment Factor or Mixture Allocation Factor
NOAEL	No Observed Adverse Effect Level
NOEC	No Observed Effect Concentration
NORMAN	Network of reference laboratories, research centres and related organisations for monitoring of emerging environmental substances
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PAHs	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PANORAMIX	Providing risk assessments of complex real-life mixtures for the protection of European citizens and the environment
PBDEs	Polybrominated diphenyl ethers
PCBs	Polychlorinated biphenyls
PFAS	Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances
POPs	Persistent organic pollutants
REACH	Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals
RIVM	Dutch National Institute for Public Health and the Environment
SOLUTIONS	Solutions for present and future emerging pollutants in land and water resources management
SVHC	Substances of Very High Concern
WFD	Water Framework Directive



REFERENCES

[1] A. Kortenkamp, T. Backhaus, and M. Faust, "State of the Art Report on Mixture Toxicity," Final Report, 391 p., Dec 2009, https://ec.europa.eu/environment/chemicals/effects/pdf/report_mixture_toxicity.pdf [Accessed 10 Nov. 2021]

[2] C. Rudén, "Future Chemical Risk Management. Accounting for combination effects and assessing chemicals in groups," The report of the Committe of Combination of effects and assessing chemicals in groups, Swedish Government Official Reports, SOU 2019:45, 2019, https://www.government.se/4adb1a/contentassets/ee36b3e49c354bb8967f3a33a2d5ca50/future-chemical-risk-management---accounting-for-combination-effects-and-assessing-chemicals-in-groups- sou-201945 [Accessed 10 Nov. 2021]

[3] European Commission, "Commission Staff Working Document - Progress report on the assessment and management of combined exposures to multiple chemicals (chemical mixtures) and associated risks," 46 p., Oct. 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/environment/pdf/chemicals/2020/10/SWD_mixtures.pdf [Accessed 10 Nov. 2021]

[4] A. Kienzler, E. Berggren, J. Bessems, S. Bopp, S. van der Linden, A. Worth, "Assessment of Mixtures – Review of regulatory Requirements and Guidance", JRC Science and Policy Report, EUR 26675 EN, 136 p., 2014, http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC90601/lb1a26675enn.pdf

[5] European Commission, "Chemicals Strategy for Sustainability," Oct. 2020, [Online], https://ec.europa.eu/ environment/strategy/chemicals-strategy_en

[6] United Nations Environment Programme, "UN Environment Global Chemicals Outlook II-From Legacies to Innovative Solutions: Implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development", 666 p., March 2019, https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-chemicals-outlook-ii-legacies-innovative-solutions

[7] Z. Wang, G.W. Walker, D.C. Muir, and K. Nagatani-Yoshida, "Toward a Global Understanding of Chemical Pollution: A First Comprehensive Analysis of National and Regional Chemical Inventories," Environ Sci Technol, vol. 54, pp. 2575–2584, Jan. 2020, https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b06379

[8] J. Wolfram, S. Stehle, S. Bub, L.L. Petschick, and R. Schulz, "Water quality and ecological risks in European surface waters-Monitoring improves while water quality decreases," Environment International, vol. 152, p.106479, July 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106479

[9] A. de la Torre, I. Navarro, P. Sanz, and M. de los Ángeles Mártinez, "Occurrence and human exposure assessment of perfluorinated substances in house dust from three European countries," Science of the Total Environment, vol. 685, pp. 308-314, Oct. 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.463

[10] E. Ougier, C. Ganzleben, P. Lecoq, J. Bessems, M. David, G. Schoeters, R. Lange, M. Meslin, M. Uhl, M. Kolossa-Gehring, and C. Rousselle, "Chemical prioritisation strategy in the European Human Biomonitoring Initiative (HBM4EU)-Development and results," International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, vol. 236, p.113778, July 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113778

[11] R. Morello-Frosch, L.J. Cushing, B.M. Jesdale, J.M. Schwartz, W. Guo, T. Guo, M. Wang, S. Harwani, S.S.E. Petropoulou, W. Duong, and J.S. Park, "Environmental chemicals in an urban population of pregnant women and their newborns from San Francisco," Environmental science & technology, vol. 50, no 22, pp. 12464-12472, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b03492

[12] Å. Bergman, J. Rüegg, O. Söder, M. Öberg, E. Drakvik, M. Jönsson, C. Rudén, C.-G. Bornehag, J. Sturve, C. Lindh, E. Nånberg, B. Demeneix, J.-B. Fini, W. Kiess, E. Kitraki, H. Kiviranta, G. Testa, C. Gennings, "EDC-MixRisk Policy Brief," March 2019, https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/wp- content/uploads/sites/34/2019/03/Policy-Brief-EDC-MixRisk-PRINTED-190322.pdf

[13] J.P. Desforges, M. Levin, L. Jasperse, S. De Guise, I. Eulaers, R.J. Letcher, M. Acquarone, E. Nordøy, L.P. Folkow, T. Hammer Jensen, and C. Grøndahl, "Effects of polar bear and killer whale derived contaminant cocktails on

62



marine mammal immunity," Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 51, no. 19, pp. 11431-11439, Sept 2017 https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b03532

[14] S. K. Bopp, A. Kienzler, S. van der Linden, L. Lamon, A. Paini, N. Parissis, A.-N. Richarz, J. Triebe, A. Worth, "Review of case studies on the human and environmental risk assessment of chemical mixtures", European Commission Joint Research Centre, EUR 27968 EN, 89 p., June 2016, https://doi.org/10.2788/272583

[15] O. Martin, M. Scholze, S. Ermler, J. McPhie, S.K. Bopp, A. Kienzler, N. Parissis, and A. Kortenkamp, "Ten years of research on synergisms and antagonisms in chemical mixtures: A systematic review and quantitative reappraisal of mixture studies," Environment International, vol. 146, p. 106206, Jan. 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106206

[16] "Towards a pragmatic procedure to regulate the risks of exposure to unintended combinations of chemicals in the EU. Discussion paper for CARACAL provided by KEMI and the Netherlands. CA/MS/34/2020," 2020

[17] European Commission, "European Green Deal," Dec. 2019, [Online], https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/ priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en

[18] CHEM Trust, "Chemical Mixtures", [Online], https://chemtrust.org/mixtures/ [Accessed 10 Nov. 2021]

[19] CHEM Trust, "IT'S A NO BRAINER! Action needed to stop children being exposed to chemicals that harm their brain development," March 2017, https://www.chemtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/chemtrust-nobrainer-mar17.pdf

[20] Chemical Watch, "European Commission adopts restriction on hazardous chemicals in tattoo inks," Dec. 2020, https://chemicalwatch.com/193831/european-commission-adopts-restriction-on-hazardous-chemicals-in-tattoo-inks [Accessed 8 June 2021]

[21] C. Simoneau, B. Raffael, S. Garbin, E. Hoekstra, A. Mieth, J. Alberto Lopes, and V. Reina, "Non-harmonised food contact materials in the EU: Regulatory and market situation: BASELINE STUDY: Final report", EUR 28357 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, ISBN 978-92-79- 64632-4 (online), 2016, https://doi.org/10.2788/234276

[22] OECD, "Toward a new comprehensive global database of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs): summary report on updating the OECD 2007 list of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs)," Series on Risk Management No. 39, 24 p., May 2018, https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentp df/?cote=ENV-JM-MONO(2018)7&doclanguage=en [Accessed 31 Aug. 2021]

[23] EU Pesticide database, "Active substances, safeners and synergists" filter applied, (454 matching records) https://ec.europa.eu/food/plants/pesticides/eu-pesticides-database_en [Accessed 18 Nov. 2021]

[24] L. Gilles, E. Govarts, L. Rambaud, N. Vogel, A. Castano, M.E. López, L.R. Martin, G. Koppen, S. Remy, M. Vrijheid, and P. Montazeri, "HBM4EU combines and harmonises human biomonitoring data across the EU, building on existing capacity – The HBM4EU survey," International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, vol 237, August 2021, p. 113809 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113809

[25] N. Lembke, A. Murawski, R. Lange, T. Weber, P. Apel, M. Dębiak, H. M. Koch, and M. Kolossa-Gehring, "Substitutes mimic the exposure behaviour of REACH regulated phthalates – A review of the German HBM system on the example of plasticizers," International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, vol. 236, p.113780, July 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113780

[26] C. Schmidtkunz, K. Küpper, T. Weber, G. Leng, and M. Kolossa-Gehring, "A biomonitoring study assessing the exposure of young German adults to butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT)," International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, vol. 228, p.113541, July 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113541

[27] M. Scherer, W. Petreanu, T. Weber, G. Scherer, N. Pluym, and M. Kolossa-Gehring, "Human biomonitoring in urine samples from the Environmental Specimen Bank reveals a decreasing trend over time in the exposure to



the fragrance chemical lysmeral from 2000 to 2018," Chemosphere, vol. 265, p.128955, Feb. 2021, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128955

[28] N. Pluym, W. Petreanu, T. Weber, G. Scherer, M. Scherer, and M. Kolossa-Gehring, "Biomonitoring data on young adults from the Environmental Specimen Bank suggest a decrease in the exposure to the fragrance chemical 7-hydroxycitronellal in Germany from 2000 to 2018," International journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, vol. 227, p.113508, June 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113508

[29] M.I. Schmied-Tobies, A. Murawski, E. Rucic, G. Schwedler, D. Bury, M. Kasper-Sonnenberg, S. Koslitz, H.M. Koch, T. Brüning, and M. Kolossa-Gehring, "Alkyl pyrrolidone solvents N-methyl-2- pyrrolidone (NMP) and N-ethyl-2-pyrrolidone (NEP) in urine of children and adolescents in Germany- human biomonitoring results of the German Environmental Survey 2014-2017 (GerES V)," Environment International, vol. 146, p.106221, Jan 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106221

[30] M. Kasper-Sonnenberg, H.M. Koch, P. Apel, M. Rüther, C. Pälmke, T. Brüning, and M. Kolossa- Gehring, "Time trend of exposure to the phthalate plasticizer substitute DINCH in Germany from 1999 to 2017: Biomonitoring data on young adults from the Environmental Specimen Bank (ESB)," International journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, vol. 222, no 8, pp. 1084-1092, Sept 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.07.011

[31] F. Lessmann, M. Kolossa-Gehring, P. Apel, M. Rüther, C. Pälmke, V. Harth, T. Brüning, and H.M. Koch, "German Environmental Specimen Bank: 24-hour urine samples from 1999 to 2017 reveal rapid increase in exposure to the para-phthalate plasticizer di (2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate (DEHTP)," Environment International, vol. 132, p.105102, Nov. 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105102

[32] A.C. Gore, V.A. Chappell, S.E. Fenton, J.A. Flaws, A. Nadal, G.S. Prins, J. Toppari, and R.T. Zoeller, "EDC-2: the Endocrine Society's second scientific statement on endocrine-disrupting chemicals," Endocrine reviews, vol. 36, no 6, pp. E1-E150, Dec. 2015, https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2015-1010

[33] M. Schlumpf, K. Kypke, M. Wittassek, J. Angerer, H. Mascher, D. Mascher, C. Vökt, M. Birchler, and W. Lichtensteiger, "Exposure patterns of UV filters, fragrances, parabens, phthalates, organochlor pesticides, PBDEs, and PCBs in human milk: Correlation of UV filters with use of cosmetics," Chemosphere, vol. 81, no. 10, pp. 1171–1183, Nov. 2010, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.09.079

[34] L. Serrano, L. M. Iribarne-Durán, B. Suárez, F. Artacho-Cordón, F. Vela-Soria, M. Peña-Caballero, J. Hurtado, N. Olea, M.F. Fernández, and C. Freire, "Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in donor breast milk in Southern Spain and their potential determinants," International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, Vol. 236, pp.113796, July 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113796

[35] World Health Organization, "Breastfeeding," [Online], https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/exclusive_ breastfeeding/en [Accessed 9 Sept. 2021)

[36] Å. Bergman, J. Rüegg, E. Drakvik, and E.-M. Consortium, "Final Technical Report of EDC-MixRisk," p. 18., June 2019, https://edcmixrisk.ki.se/wp-content/uploads/sites/34/2019/09/EDC-MixRisk_Final-technical-report_f20190629.pdf

[37] L.S. Mansem, R.D. Björvang, D. Mucs, M.T. Vinnars, N. Papadogiannakis, C.H. Lindh, C.Y. Andersen, and P. Damdimopoulou, "Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in human embryonic and fetal organs from first, second, and third trimester pregnancies," Environment International, vol. 124, pp. 482-492, March 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.010

[38] R.D. Björvang, M.T. Vinnars, N. Papadogiannakis, S. Gidlöf, L.S. Mamsen, D. Mucs, H. Kiviranta, P. Rantakokko, P. Ruokojärvi, C.H. Lindh, and C.Y. Andersen, "Mixtures of persistent organic pollutants are found in vital organs of late gestation human fetuses," Chemosphere, vol. 283, p. 131125, Nov 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2021.131125

[39] A. Wang, D.P. Abrahamsson, T. Jiang, M. Wang, R. Morello-Frosch, J.S. Park, M. Sirota, and T.J. Woodruff, "Suspect screening, prioritization, and confirmation of environmental chemicals in maternal-newborn pairs from San Francisco," Environmental Science & Technology., vol. 55, n. 8, pp. 5037–5049, March 2021, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c05984



[40] CHEM Trust, "Chemicals need to be regulated upstream to address chemical pollution in rivers", Oct. 2020. https://chemtrust.org/chemical-pollution-in-rivers/

[41] European Environment Agency, "European waters – assessment of status and pressures 2018", EEA Report No 7, 90 p., July 2018, https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/state-of-water [Accessed 23 September 2021]

[42] P. Gaggo-Ferrero, A.A. Bletsou, D.E. Damalas, R. Aalizadeh, N.A. Alygizakis, H.P. Singer, J. Hollender, and N.S. Thomaidis, "Wide-scope target screening of >2000 emerging contaminants in wastewater samples with UPLC-Q-ToF-HRMS/MS and smart evaluation of its performance through the validation of 195 selected representative analytes," Journal of Hazardous Materials, vol. 387, p. 121712, April 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121712

[43] P.A. Inostroza, A.J. Wicht, T. Huber, C. Nagy, W. Brack, and M. Krauss, "Body burden of pesticides and wastewater-derived pollutants on freshwater invertebrates: Method development and application in the Danube River," Environmental Pollution, vol. 214, pp. 77-85, July 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.03.064

[44] S. Valsecchi, M. Babut, M. Mazzoni, S. Pascariello, C. Ferrario, B. De Felice, R. Bettinetti, B. Veyrand, P. Marchand, and S. Polesello, "Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Fish from European Lakes: Current Contamination Status, Sources, and Perspectives for Monitoring," Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, vol. 40, no 3, pp. 658-676, March 2021, https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4815

[45] C. Andvick, E. Jourdain, J.L. Lyche, R. Karoliussen, and K. Borgå, "High Levels of Legacy and Emerging Contaminants in Killer Whales (Orcinus orca) from Norway, 2015 to 2017," Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, vol. 40, no 7, pp. 1848-1858, July 2021, https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5064

[46] S. Huber, N.A. Warner, T. Nygård, M. Remberger, M. Harju, H.T. Uggerud, L. Kaj, and L. Hanssen, "A broad cocktail of environmental pollutants found in eggs of three seabird species from remote colonies in Norway," Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, vol. 34, no 6, pp. 1296-1308, Feb. 2015, https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2956

[47] Chemical & Engineering News, "A tale of PFAS, pollution, and patent claims - A novel legal maneuver by Solvay threatens the availability of an analytical standard," May 2021, https://cen.acs.org/analyticalchemistry/A-tale-of-PFAS-pollution-and-patent-claims/99/i11 [Accessed 21 Dec. 2021]

[48] R. Aro, P. Carlsson, C. Vogelsang, A. Kärrman, and L.W. Yeung, "Fluorine mass balance analysis of selected environmental samples from Norway," Chemosphere, vol. 283, p. 131200, Nov. 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2021.131200

[49] A.-M. Kaiser, M. Forsthuber, R. Aro, A. Kärrman, C. Gundacker, H. Zeisler, P. Foessleitner, H. Salzer, C. Hartmann, M. Uhl, and L.W. Yeung, "Extractable Organofluorine Analysis in Pooled Human Serum and Placental Tissue Samples from an Austrian Subpopulation—A Mass Balance Analysis Approach," Ecotoxicology and Public Health, vol. 55, no 13, pp. 9033-9042, June 2021, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c00883

[50] A. Kortenkamp, M. Faust, M. Scholze and T. Backhaus, "Low-level exposure to multiple chemicals: reason for human health concerns?," Environmental Health Perspectives, Vol. 115(Suppl 1), pp. 106-114, Dec. 2007, https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9358

[51] E. Silva, N. Rajapakse and A. Kortenkamp, "Something from "nothing" – eight weak estrogenic chemicals combined at concentrations below NOECs produce significant mixture effects," Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 36, no 8, pp. 1751-1756, March 2002, https://doi.org/10.1021/es0101227

[52] R.N. Carvalho, A. Arukwe, S. Ait-Aissa, A. Bado-Nilles, S. Balzamo, A. Baun, S. Belkin, L. Blaha, F. Brion, D. Conti, and N. Creusot, "Mixtures of chemical pollutants at European legislation safety concentrations: how safe are they?" Toxicological Sciences, vol. 141, no 1, pp. 218-233, Sept. 2014, https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfu118



[53] P. Apel, A. Kortenkamp, H.M. Koch, N. Vogel, M. Rüther, M. Kasper-Sonnenberg, A. Conrad, T. Brüning, and M. Kolossa-Gehring, "Time course of phthalate cumulative risks to male developmental health over a 27-year period: Biomonitoring samples of the German Environmental Specimen Bank," Environment International, vol. 137, p. 105467, Apr. 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105467

[54] D.N. Andersen, L. Møller, H. Buchardt Boyd, M. A. Boberg, Petersen, U. Hass, P.B. Poulsen, M. Strandesen and D. Bach (Eds.), "Exposure of pregnant consumers to suspected endocrine disruptors: Survey of chemical substances in consumer products," Ministry of the Environment, Danish Environmental Protection Agency, vol. 117, 248 p., April 2012, https://www2.mst.dk/Udgiv/publications/2012/04/978-87-92903-02-0.pdf

[55] P.B. Larsen, J. Boberg, P. Brunn Poulsen, T.A. Mørck, H. Buchardt Boyd, D. Nørgaard Andersen, M.A. Petersen, and U. Hass (Eds.), "Exposure of children and unborn children to selected chemical substances: Survey of chemical substances in consumer products," Ministry of Environment and Food, Danish Environmental Protection Agency, vol. 158, 174 p., April 2017, https://orbit.dtu.dk/en/publications/exposure-of-children-andunborn-children-to-selected-chemical- sub

[56] M. Gustavsson, J. Kreuger, M. Bundschuh, and T. Backhaus, "Pesticide mixtures in the Swedish streams: Environmental risks, contributions of individual compounds and consequences of single-substance oriented risk mitigation," Science of The Total Environment, vol. 598, pp. 973–983, Nov. 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.04.122

[57] A. Rodríguez-Carrillo, A.K. Rosenmai, V. Mustieles, S. Couderq, J.B. Fini, F. Vela-Soria, J.M. Molina-Molina, P. Ferrando-Marco, M. Wielsøe, M. Long, and E.C. Bonefeld-Jorgensen, "Assessment of chemical mixtures using biomarkers of combined biological activity: A screening study in human placentas," Reproductive Toxicology, vol. 100, pp. 143-154, March 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2021.01.002

[58] M. Muz, M. Krauss, S. Kutsarova, T. Schulze, and W. Brack, "Mutagenicity in surface waters: synergistic effects of carboline alkaloids and aromatic amines," Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 51, no 3, pp. 1830-1839, Jan 2017 https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b05468

[59] S. Swan and S. Colino, "Count Down: How Our Modern World Is Threatening Sperm Counts, Altering Male and Female Reproductive Development, and Imperiling the Future of the Human Race", 304p., Feb. 2021.

[60] N.E. Skakkebaek, E. Rajpert-De Meyts, G.M. Buck Louis, J. Toppari, A.M. Andersson, M.L. Eisenberg, T.K. Jensen, N. Jørgensen, S.H. Swan, K.J. Sapra, and S. Ziebe, "Male reproductive disorders and fertility trends: influences of environment and genetic susceptibility," Physiological reviews, vol. 96, no 1, pp. 55-97, Nov. 2015, https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00017.2015

[61] A. Kortenkamp, "Which chemicals should be grouped together for mixture risk assessments of male reproductive disorders?," Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, vol. 499, p. 110581, Jan. 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2019.110581

[62] BBC news, "Shocking' levels of PCB chemicals in UK killer whale Lulu", May 2017 https://www.bbc.co.uk/ news/science-environment-39738582 [Accessed 21 Sept. 2021]

[63] Artic Monitoring and Assessment Program, "AMAP Assessment 2016: Chemicals of Emerging Arctic Concern," Oslo, Norway, xvi+353pp, 2017 https://www.amap.no/documents/doc/amap-assessment-2016-chemicals-of-emerging-arctic-concern/1624

[64] T.I. Korevaar, H. Tiemeier, and R.P. Peeters, "Clinical associations of maternal thyroid function with foetal brain development: Epidemiological interpretation and overview of available evidence," Clinical Endocrinology, vol. 89, no 2, pp. 129-138, April 2018, https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.13724

[65] T. Meng, J. Cheng, Z. Tang, H. Yin, and M. Zhang, "Global distribution and trends of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in human blood and breast milk: A quantitative meta-analysis of studies published in the period 2000-2019," Journal of Environmental Management, vol. 280, p. 111696, Feb. 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111696



[66] O.V. Martin, R.M. Evans, M. Faust, and A. Kortenkamp, "A human mixture risk assessment for neurodevelopmental toxicity associated with polybrominated diphenyl ethers used as flame retardants," Environmental Health Perspectives, vol. 125, no 8, p. 087016, Aug. 2017, https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP826

[67] E.M. Tanner, M.U. Hallerbäck, S. Wikström, C. Lindh, H. Kiviranta, C. Gennings, and C.G. Bornehag, "Early prenatal exposure to suspected endocrine disruptor mixtures is associated with lower IQ at age seven," Environment International, vol. 134, p. 105185, Jan. 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105185

[68] K. Svensson, E. Tanner, C. Gennings, C. Lindh, H. Kiviranta, S. Wikström, and C.G. Bornehag, "Prenatal exposures to mixtures of endocrine disrupting chemicals and children's weight trajectory up to age 5.5 in the SELMA study," Scientific reports, vol. 11, no 1, pp. 1-12, May 2021, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-89846-5

[69] A. Oertel, K. Maul, J. Menz, A.L. Kronsbein, D. Sittner, A. Springer, A.-K. Müller, U. Herbst, K. Schlegel, and A. Schulte, "REACH Compliance: Data availability in REACH registrations Part 2: Evaluation of data, waiving and adaptations for chemicals \geq 1000 tpa," German Environment Agency (UBA), Texte 64/2018, 205 p., Oct. 2018, https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/en/publikationen/reach- compliance-data-availability-in-reach

[70] ChemicalWatch, "Echa checks reveal nearly 90% of REACH dossiers needed more data", Feb. 2021. https://chemicalwatch.com/221713/echa-checks-reveal-nearly-90-of-reach-dossiers-needed-more-data [Accessed 10 Nov. 2021]

[71] ECHA, "Evaluation activities sped up by assessing chemicals in groups," Press release, Feb. 2021, https://echa.europa.eu/-/evaluation-activities-sped-up-by-assessing-chemicals-in-groups [Accessed 1 Dec. 2021]

[72] K.J. Groh, B. Geueke, O. Martin, M. Maffini, and J. Muncke, "Overview of intentionally used food contact chemicals and their hazards," Environment International, vol. 150, pp.106225, May 2021 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106225

[73] CHEM Trust, "CHEM Trust response to the Commission's Inception Impact Assessment 'Revision of EU legislation on registration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction of Chemicals'", Consultation comments, May 2021, https://chemtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/chemtrust-reach-iia-response- may21.pdf [Accessed 24 Nov. 2021]

[74] M.E. (Bette) Meek, A.R. Boobis, K.M. Crofton, G. Heinemeyer, M. van Raaij, C. Vickers, "Risk assessment of combined exposure to multiple chemicals: A WHO/IPCS framework," Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, vol. 60, pp. S1-S14, April 2011, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2011.03.010

[75] D. Bunke, R. Groß, F. Kalberlah, J. Oltmanns, M. Schwarz, A. Reihlen, N. Reineke, "Mixtures in the environment - development of assessment strategies under REACH", German Environment Agency (UBA), 317 p., Aug. 2014, https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/en/publikationen/mixtures-in-the- environment-development-of

[76] R.M. Evans, O.V. Martin, M. Faust, and A. Kortenkamp, "Should the scope of human mixture risk assessment span legislative/regulatory silos for chemicals?," Science of the Total Environment, vol. 543, part A, pp. 757-764, Feb. 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.10.162

[77] European Food Safety Authority, "Chemical Mixtures", [Online] https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/topics/ topic/chemical-mixtures [Accessed 10 Nov. 2021]

[78] EFSA Scientific Committee, "Guidance on harmonied methodologies for human health, animal health, and ecological risk assessment of combined exposure to multiple chemicals," EFSA Guidance, 77 p., March 2019, https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5634

[79] EFSA Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (EFSA CONTAM Panel), "Risk to human health related to the presence of perfluoroalkyl substances in food", EFSA Scientific opinion, Sept. 2020, https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2020.6223

[80] PAN Europe, "How to best address cocktails effects in the Pesticide legislation?," 4 p., Oct. 2021 https:// www.pan-europe.info/sites/pan-europe.info/files/field/CRA_Towards%20the%20implementation%20of%20 a%20MAF.pdf



[81] EFSA Panel on Plant Protection Products and their Residues (PPR), "Scientific Opinion on the identification of pesticides to be included in cumulative assessment groups on the basis of their toxicological profile", EFSA Opinion, July 2013, https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3293

[82] EFSA, "Cumulative risk assessment of pesticides: FAQ" April 2020, https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/news/ cumulative-risk-assessment-pesticides-faq [Accessed Nov. 2021]

[83] PAN Europe report: Banned and hazardous pesticides in European food, 2020, https://www.pan-europe.info/sites/pan-europe.info/files/Report_Banned%20pesticides%20in%20EU%20food_Final.pdf

[84] CHEM Trust, "Consultation response to EFSA 'Cumulative dietary risk characterisation of pesticides that have chronic effects on the thyroid' and 'Cumulative dietary risk characterisation of pesticides that have acute effects on the nervous system'", Nov. 2019 https://chemtrust.org/wp- content/uploads/CHEM-Trust-comments-for-EFSA-pesticides-mixture-assessment.pdf [Accessed Nov. 2021]

[85] European Commission, "COMMISSION REGULATION (EU) 2018/2005 of 17 December 2018 amending Annex XVII to Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) as regards bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), dibutyl phthalate (DBP), benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP) and diisobutyl phthalate (DIBP)," Official Journal of the European Union, Dec. 2018, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal- content/EN/TXT/ PDF/?uri=CELEX:32018R2005&from=EN

[86] S. Bopp, E. Berggren, A. Kienzler, S. Van Der Linden, and A. Worth, "Scientific methodologies for the assessment of combined effects of chemicals - a survey and literature review," EUR 27471, Luxembourg (Luxembourg): Publications Office of the European Union, JRC97522, Oct. 2015, https://doi. org/10.2788/093511

[87] E. Drakvik, R. Altenburger, Y. Aoki, T. Backhaus, T. Bahadori, R. Barouki, W. Brack, M.T. Cronin, B. Demeneix, S.H. Bennekou, and J. van Klaveren, "Statement on advancing the assessment of chemical mixtures and their risks for human health and the environment," Environment International, vol. 134, p. 105267, Jan. 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105267

[88] A. Kortenkamp, and M. Faust, "Regulate to reduce chemical mixture risk," Science, vol. 361, no 6399, pp. 224-226, July 2018, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat9219

[89] F.A.Van Broekhuizen, L. Posthuma, and T. P. Traas, "Addressing combined effects of chemicals in environmental safety assessment under REACH - A thought starter," National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, RIVM Letter report 2016-0162, 2016, https://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/2016-0162. pdf

[90] KEMI, "An additional assessment factor (MAF) – A suitable approach for improving the regulatory risk assessment of chemical mixtures?", Report 5/15, 52 p., 2015, https://www.kemi.se/ download/18.6df1d3df171c243fb23a98ec/1591454109399/rapport-5-15.pdf

[91] CHEM Trust, EEB, ChemSec, ClientEarth, BUND, and HEAL, "Comments on CA/MS/47/2020 Synthesis paper for CARACAL provided by KEMI and the Netherlands 'Comments on a pragmatic procedure to regulate the risks of exposure to coincidental combinations of chemicals, in the EU", Aug. 2021, https://chemtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/Final-NGO-comments-combination-effects-CARACAL- CA_MS_47_2020.pdf

[92] CHEM Trust, EEB, ChemSec, ClientEarth, BUND, and HEAL, "Comments on CA/MS/34/2020 'Towards a pragmatic procedure to regulate the risks of exposure to unintended combinations of chemicals in the EU'", May 2020, https://chemtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/Final-NGO-comments- mixtures-CARACAL-CA_ MS_34_2020.pdf [Accessed 18 Nov. 2021]

[93] E. Hassold, W. Galert, and J. Schulze, "Options for an environmental risk assessment of intentional and unintentional chemical mixtures under REACH: the status and ways forward," Environmental Sciences Europe, vol. 33, pp. 1-17, Nov. 2021, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-021-00565-0



[94] O.V. Martin, S. Martin, and A. Kortenkamp, "Dispelling urban myths about default uncertainty factors in chemical risk assessment-sufficient protection against mixture effects?," Environmental Health, vol. 12, no 1, pp. 1-22, July 2013, https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-12-53

[95] C. Ruden, T. Backhaus, D Bergman, M. Faust, L. Molander, D. Slunge, "Future chemical risk management accounting for combination effects and assessing chemicals in groups," Swedish Government reports, Sou 2019:45, Stockholm, Nov. 2019, https://www.government.se/legal- documents/2019/11/sou-201945/ [Accessed 29 Nov. 2021]

[96] N. Markert, S. Rhiem, M. Trimborn, and B. Guhl, "Mixture toxicity in the Erft River: assessment of ecological risks and toxicity drivers," Environmental Sciences Europe, vol. 32, no 1, pp .1-13, March 2020, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-020-00326-5

[97] J. van Gils, L. Posthuma, I.T. Cousins, C. Lindim, D. de Zwart, D., Bunke, S. Kutsarova, C. Müller, J. Munthe, J. Slobodnik, and W. Brack, "The European Collaborative Project SOLUTIONS developed models to provide diagnostic and prognostic capacity and fill data gaps for chemicals of emerging concern," Environmental Sciences Europe, vol. 31, no 1, pp. 1-8, Sept. 2019, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-019-0248-3

[98] KEMI, "Improving the regulatory assessment of combination effects: steps towards implementing the mixture assessment factor (MAF) in chemical regulation," PM 8/21, 61 p., 2021 https://www.kemi.se/en/publications/pms/2021/pm-8-21-improving-the-regulatory-assessment-of-combination-effects-steps-towards-implementing-the-mixture-assessment-factor-maf-in-chemical-regulation

[99] E. Rorije, P.N. Wassenaar, J. Slootweg, L. van Leeuwen, F.A. van Broekhuizen, and L. Posthuma, "Characterization of ecotoxicological risks from unintentional mixture exposures calculated from European freshwater monitoring data: Forwarding prospective chemical risk management," Science of The Total Environment, vol. 822, p.153385, May 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153385

[100] A. Kortenkamp, M. Faust, T. Backhaus, R. Altenburger, M. Scholze, C. Müller, S. Ermler, L. Posthuma, and W. Brack, "Mixture risks threaten water quality: the European Collaborative Project SOLUTIONS recommends changes to the WFD and better coordination across all pieces of European chemicals legislation to improve protection from exposure of the aquatic environment to multiple pollutants," Environmental Sciences Europe, vol. 31, no 1, pp. 1-4, Sept. 2019, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-019-0245-6

[101] OECD, "Considerations for Assessing the Risks of Combined Exposure to Multiple Chemicals," OECD Series on Testing and Assessment, no. 296, OECD Publishing, Paris, Dec. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1787/ ceca15a9-en

[102] S. Rotter, A. Beronius, A. R. Boobis, A. Hanberg, J. van Klaveren, M. Luijten, K. Machera, D. Nikolopoulou, H. van der Voet, J. Zilliacus, and R. Solecki, "Overview on legislation and scientific approaches for risk assessment of combined exposure to multiple chemicals: the potential EuroMix contribution," Critical reviews in toxicology, vol. 48, no 9, pp. 796–814, Jan 2019, https://doi.org/10.1080/10408444.2018.1541964

[103] EuroMix, "EuroMix handbook for mixture risk assessment", Deliverable 8.3 "Guidance on the use of the new strategy for tiered testing and assessment", May 2019, https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3560720

[104] CHEM Trust, "From BPA to BPZ: a toxic soup? How companies switch from a known hazardous chemical to one with similar properties, and how regulators could stop them," March 2018, https://www.chemtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/chemtrust-toxicsoup-mar-18.pdf [Accessed 18 Nov. 2021]

[105] ECHA, "First assessments of regulatory needs for groups of chemicals published," 7 Dec 2021, https:// echa.europa.eu/-/first-assessments-of-regulatory-needs-for- groups-of-chemicals-published [Accessed 21 Dec. 2021]

[106] European Commission, "Environment Action Programme to 2020," https://ec.europa.eu/environment/ action-programme/ [Accessed 18 Nov. 2021]



This report was produced by CHEM Trust – a collaboration between CHEM Trust, a UK registered charity, and CHEM Trust Europe eV, a charity based in Germany – working at UK, EU and international levels to protect humans and wildlife from harmful chemicals.

CHEM Trust's overarching aim is to prevent human-made chemicals from causing long-term damage to wildlife or humans. Our particular concerns are endocrine disrupting chemicals, persistent chemicals, the cocktail effect of chemicals and the role of chemical exposures in the early life of wildlife and humans.

CHEM Trust engages with the scientific, environmental, medical and policy communities to improve the dialogue concerning the role of adverse effects of chemicals in wildlife and humans and to harness a wide coalition to drive improved chemicals policy and regulation.

About the authors

A first draft of the report was written by Rye Howard, an environmental public health scientist with a broad background in epidemiology, toxicology, and research translation. They hold Doctoral and Master of Public Health degrees in environmental health from the Boston University School of Public Health, where their research examined the combination effects of chemical mixtures.

Further drafts of the report including the policy recommendations were written by Dr Ninja Reineke, Dr Julie Schneider and Pia Juul Nielsen of CHEM Trust, informed by the state of the science, the views of the scientists and CHEM Trust's experience of following chemicals policy development for more than two decades.

Scientific review

The scientific content of this report has been peer reviewed by Dr Olwenn V Martin, a a Lecturer in Global Challenges at Brunel University, London.

Building on an academic interdisciplinary background in natural sciences and social sciences, she has expertise in the translation and application of both fundamental and observational research into policy.

Her research is focused on emerging issues for the risk assessment of contaminants, such as mixtures and endocrine disruptors. She has a continuing interest in methods for evidence integration such as systematic review, meta-analysis, weight-of-evidence as well as socio-economic evaluation.



Acknowledgements

CHEM Trust thanks Dr Martin for her scientific review and useful comments on the draft report.

We would also like to thank Natacha Cingotti, Angeliki Lyssimachou, Helene Loonen and Anna Lennquist for discussions and feedback on drafts of the report.

All final editorial decisions were made by CHEM Trust.

CHEM Trust gratefully acknowledges the support of the waterloof oundation. The expressed views and interpretations herein do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of any of the institutions providing financial support. Responsibility for the content lies entirely with CHEM Trust.

Credits

This report should be cited as:

CHEM Trust, 2022. Chemical cocktails - The neglected threat from toxic mixtures and how to fix it.

This report was designed and illustrated by:

out of place design studio | https://outofplace.studio/

Photo credits:

Cover from top left to bottom right: Serena Naclerio on Unsplash; Frans Blok on Shutterstock; Patric Federi on Unsplash; Taelynn Christopher on Unsplash.

Page 5 fizkes on Shutterstock; Page 6 zulufoto on Shutterstock; Page 7 Andreas Schantl on Unsplash; Page 11 Khamkhor on Unsplash; Page 12 Ivan Ivanovič on Unsplash; Page 17 Nicoleta Ionescu on Shutterstock; Page 22 Frans Blok on Shutterstock; Page 24 Patrick Federi on Unsplash; Page 25 Halfpoint on Shutterstock; Page 27 benny337 on Shutterstock; Page 28 Monkey Business Images on Shutterstock; Page 31 buchpetzer on Shutterstock; Page 33 gpointstudio on Shutterstock; Page 36 Cosmin Serban on Unsplash; Page 40 Janko Ferlič on Unsplash; Page 41 fotokostic on iStock; Page 50 Jeremy McKnight on Unsplash; Page 53 iamlukyeee on Shutterstock; Page 54 Angel Balashev on Unsplash; Page 56 Ivan Samoshko on Unsplash; Page 57 Alex Vasey on Unsplash; Page 59 Alex Vasey on Unsplash.

Editing and proofreading by Adam Bradbury

CHEM Trust UK Charity Register Number: 1118182; EU Transparency Register Number: 27053044762-72. For more about our work, including our regularly-updated blog, see chemtrust.org Further copies of this report can be downloaded from https://chemtrust.org/chemicalcocktails/